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PART |. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(UNAUDITED)

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Three months endec

Nine months endec

July 31, July 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Net sales $1,161.0 $1,129.7 $3,296.. $3,227.
Cost of products sol 944.¢ 912. 2,689.. 2,620.¢

Gross profit 216.: 217.2 607.1 606.¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 129.¢ 118.2 386.: 360.¢
Restructuring charge 4.2 1.8 10.t 2.7
Timberland gain: — — (16.9) —
Non-cash asset impairment chart 154 2.3 15.¢ 4.t
(Gain) loss on disposal of properties, plants, gapeint and businesses, 7.7 (1.9 4.2 (6.2)

Operating profit 59.€ 96.7 207 .4 244.¢
Interest expense, n 20.7 19.2 61.5 62.2
Debt extinguishment charg — — — 1.3
Other expense, n 1.4 4.C 7.5 7.6

Income before income tax expense and equity easraohgnconsolidated affiliates, r 37.t 73.5 138.¢ 173.2
Income tax expens 28.2 25.€ 64.2 58.7
Equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, nfetias 0.7 1.2 0.6 i1jg

Net income 10.C 48.¢ 75.1 116.C
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests 2.2 (2.0 2.4 (5.5

Net income attributable to Greif, In $ 122 $ 465 $ 77t 0§ 110f
Basic earnings per share attributable to Greif, Inc common shareholders
Class A Common Stoc $ 021 $ 08 $ 132 $ 1.8¢
Class B Common Stoc $ 031 $ 12 $ 19 $ 2.8¢
Diluted earnings per share attributable to Greif, Inc. common shareholders
Class A Common Stoc $ 021 $ 08 $ 132 $ 1.8¢
Class B Common Stoc $ 031 $ 12 $ 19 $ 2.8¢

GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(UNAUDITED)
(Dollars in millions)
Three months endec Nine months endec
July 31, July 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Net income $ 10 $ 48¢& $ 751 $116.(
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of

Foreign currency translatic (12.9 (11.9 (36.2) (15.9)

Reclassification of cash flow hedges to earnings of tax 0.2 0.2 0.t 0.4

Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges, net o — — (0.2 (0.2

Minimum pension liabilities, net of te 0.4 (0.5 (0.5 0.3
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of (12.9) (11.7) (36.9) (15.2)
Comprehensive income (los (2.3 37.1 38.t 100.¢
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to nonmodlimg interests (4.4 (2.1 (2.1 4.2
Comprehensive income attributable to Greif, | $ 21 $ 392 $40C $ 96.¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ents




GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(UNAUDITED)
(Dollars in millions)

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance of 042914 and $13.5 in 201
Inventories
Deferred tax asse
Assets held for sal
Current portion related party notes and advancesivable
Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Long-term assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net of amortiza
Deferred tax asse
Related party notes receival
Assets held by special purpose enti
Other lon¢-term asset

Properties, plants and equipment
Timber properties, net of depleti
Land
Buildings
Machinery and equipme
Capital projects in progre:

Accumulated depreciatic

Total asset

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financi®ents

July 31, 201«

$ 65.C
526.7
411.(

22.C
64.C
1.¢
144.(
1,234.¢

968.¢
169.¢
29.7
11.c
50.¢
118.(
1,347.¢

251.
133.2
480.(

1,510.¢
137.7
2,512.
(1,143.)
1,369.(

$ 3,951.

October 31, 201

$ 78.1
481.¢

375.:

22.2

1kt

2.8

132.2

1,094.(

1,003t
180.¢
28.C
12.¢
50.¢
114.1
1,389.¢

215.:
141.F

496.

1,523,

128.7

2,505.¢
(1,107.})
1,398.

$  3882.



Current liabilities

Accounts payabl

GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(UNAUDITED)
(Dollars in millions)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accrued payroll and employee bene
Restructuring reserve

Current portion of lon-term debt
Shor-term borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities

Liabilities held for sale

Other current liabilitie:

Long-term liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred tax liabilities

Pension liabilities

Postretirement benefit obligatio
Liabilities held by special purpose entit
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Shareholders equity

Common stock, without par val
Treasury stock, at co
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive Ic
- foreign currency translatic
- interest rate and other cash flow hed
- minimum pension liabilitie
Total Greif, Inc. shareholde equity
Noncontrolling interest
Total shareholde’ equity
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financi®ents

July 31, 201«

$ 448.
98.t

4.7

17.5

77.8

8.4

6.4

208.:

869.¢

1,228.¢
236.¢
83.4

October 31, 201

$ 431.%
103.(

3.C

10.C

64.1

115

178.¢
801.7

1,207.:
238.1
82.t
18.5
43.<
92.€

1,682.1

129.4
(131.0

1,443

(63.9)
(0.6)

$ 3,882.:



GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)

(Dollars in millions)

For the nine months ended July 3: 2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 75.1 $ 116.(
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 119.¢ 117.¢
Asset impairment 15.€ 4.t
Unrealized foreign exchange Ic 1.3 5.C
Deferred income taxe (3.6 0.t
(Gain) loss on disposals of properties, plantsiggant and businesses, | 4.2 (6.7)
Gain on disposals of timberland, i (16.9 —
Equity earnings of affiliate (0.9 (1.5
Other, ne (1.0 —
Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in cexsaigts and liabilitie:
Trade accounts receivat (60.4) (49.9)
Inventories (50.7) (31.9)
Deferred purchase price on sold receiva 6.3 (14.5)
Accounts payabl 29.1 (28.9
Restructuring reserve 1.8 (4.9
Pension and postretirement benefit liabilit 2.7 9.7
Other, ne (3.6) 1.2
Net cash provided by operating activit 116.¢ 118.5
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of companies, net of cash acqu (53.5 —
Purchases of properties, plants and equipt (94.0 (82.6)
Purchases of timber properti (55.7) (0.5
Proceeds from the sale of properties, plants, eogii, businesses and other as 70.2 12.C
Payments on notes receivable with related party 1.3 2.€
Net cash used in investing activiti (131.7) (68.5)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of l--term debi 807.( 873.c
Payments on lor-term debt (804.9 (829.9)
Proceeds from (payments on) s-term borrowings, ne 37.2 (29.9)
Proceeds from trade accounts receivable credittiaaiet 30.C 20.C
Dividends paic (73.9) (73.€)
Proceeds from the sale of membership units of aal@hated subsidiar 6.C —
Exercise of stock optior 1.€ 1.2
Fees paid for amended credit agreen — (3.9
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 3.2 (42.2)
Effects of exchange rates on cas (1.9 (4.6)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivakent (13.]) 3.4
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of peric 78.1 91.t
Cash and cash equivalents at end of peric $ 65.C $ 94.¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financi®ents



GREIF, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

July 31, 2014

NOTE 1 — BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT AC COUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The information furnished herein reflects all adijusnts which are, in the opinion of managementesgary for a fair presentation of the
consolidated balance sheets as of July 31, 201®Databer 31, 2013, the consolidated statementscoine and comprehensive income for
the three and nine months ended July 31, 2014 @18 2nd the consolidated statements of cash flonth& nine month periods ended

July 31, 2014 and 2013 of Greif, Inc. and its sdiasies (the “Company”JThe consolidated financial statements include tw@ants of Grei
Inc., all wholly-owned and majoritpwned subsidiaries and investments in limited ligbtompanies, partnerships and joint venturestiich

it has controlling influence. Non-majority ownedtiéias include investments in limited liability cqranies, partnerships and joint ventures in
which the Company does not have controlling infeeeand are accounted for using either the equitpst method, as appropriate.

The unaudited consolidated financial statementsidedl in the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (thisrtie 10-Q”) should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statetseand notes thereto included in the Company’suahReport on Form 10-K for its fiscal
year ended October 31, 2013 (2013 Form 10-K”"). Note 1 of the “Notes to Consealidd Financial Statements” from the 2013 Fornk1i6-
specifically incorporated in this Form 10-Q by mefiece. In the opinion of management, all adjustsyaptessary for fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements have been indiagel are of a normal and recurring nature.

The consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with the U.S. Securities ardh&xge Commission (“SEC”)
instructions to Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q emttlide all of the information and disclosures rieeg by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) for intefimancial reporting. The preparation of financittements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make certain estimatessautngtions that affect the amounts reported irctimsolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual amounts could diffemfitbose estimates.

The Companys fiscal year begins on November 1 and ends onb@ct®l of the following year. Any references to year 2014 or 2013, or
any quarter of those years, relates to the fiseat 9r quarter, as the case may be, ended ind¢hat y

The Company presents various fair value disclosiaréiotes 3 and 10 to these Consolidated Finastatements.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiesbbhform to the 2014 presentation.

Newly Adopted Accounting Standards

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Stansl@alard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upd&&U”) 2011-11 “Balance
Sheet: Disclosures about Offsetting Assets andilitiab.” Subsequently, in January 2013, the FAS8&uied updated guidance in ASU 2013-
01 “Balance Sheet: Clarifying the Scope of Disclestabout Offsetting Assets and Liabilities.” Tteddmce sheet offsetting disclosures were
limited in scope to derivatives, repurchase agreespand securities lending transactions to thergxhey are offset in the financial
statements or subject to an enforceable masténgettrangement or similar arrangement. The Comalapted the new guidance beginning
on November 1, 2013, and the adoption of the neidagice did not impact the Company’s financial positresults of operations,
comprehensive income or cash flows, other thamelaed disclosures.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02 “Cahpnsive Income: Reporting of Amounts Reclassi®ed of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income.” The objective of this updsate improve the reporting of reclassificationg of accumulated other comprehensive
income. The amendments in this update seek tadttat objective by requiring an entity to repde effect of significant reclassifications
of accumulated other comprehensive income on theerive line items in net income if the amounnhbeieclassified is required under
GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net ime For other amounts that are not required undexRsto be reclassified in their entirety to
net income in the same reporting period, an eigitgquired to cross-reference other disclosurggired under GAAP that provide additional
detail about those amounts. This would be the wdisn a portion of the amount reclassified out afuaculated other comprehensive income
is reclassified to a balance sheet account insiEdutectly to



income or expense in the same reporting period.Cdrapany adopted the new guidance beginning on idbee 1, 2013, and the adoption of
the new guidance did not impact the Company’s firerposition, results of operations, comprehensigeme or cash flows, other than the
related disclosures.

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08 “Presg¢ion of Financial Statements (Topic 205) and Prigp®lant, and Equipment (Topic
360): Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disales of Disposals of Components of an Entity.” dhgctive of this update is to prevent
disposals of small groups of assets that are ri@cuim nature to qualify for discontinued operagresentation under Subtopic 205-20. The
amendments in this update seek to attain this tiageby only allowing disposals representing atsge shift in operations to be presented as
discontinued operations. The Company adopted theguédance beginning on May, 1 2014, after whighwmlisposals of components are
evaluated for discontinued operations treatmemigufie new guidance. As a result of the adoptiathisfstandard, businesses sold or
classified as held for sale during the three moatided July 31, 2014 did not qualify as discontihaperations under the new standard.

Recently | ssued Accounting Standards

As of July 31, 2014, the FASB has issued ASU’sugio2014-14. The Company has reviewed each redestigd ASU and the adoption of
each ASU that is applicable to the Company is Rpeeted to have a material impact on the Compdimascial position, results of
operations, comprehensive income or cash flowgrdttan the related disclosures.

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-05 “Fore@ymrency Matters: Parent’'s Accounting for the Clative Translation Adjustment
upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or GrapAssets within a Foreign Entity or an Investiiara Foreign Entity. The objective o
this update is to resolve the diversity in practdbeut whether Accounting Standards Codificatioh§C”) 810-10 or ASC 830-30 applies to
the release of the cumulative translation adjustrimea net income when a parent either sells agaall of its investment in a foreign entity
or no longer holds a controlling financial intergst subsidiary or group of assets that is a nafitctivity or a business (other than a sale of
in substance real estate or conveyance of oil asdights) within a foreign entity. The Companygipected to adopt the new guidance
beginning November 1, 2014, and the impact of thaption of the new guidance will be evaluated wheracquisition or divestiture occurs
with respect to the Company’s financial positiasults of operations, comprehensive income, casvsflnd disclosures.

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11 “Inconads: Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Bendiima Net Operating Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credir@forward Exists.” The objective of this updatda eliminate the diversity in practice in
the presentation of unrecognized tax benefits weheat operating loss carryforward, a similar tesslor a tax credit carryforward exists. The
amendments in this update seek to attain that tigeloy requiring an entity to present an unrecogditax benefit in the financial statements
as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for thagennes described above, except in certain singatscussed in the update. The Company is
expected to adopt the new guidance beginning oreMber 1, 2014 and the adoption of the new guidanget expected to impact the
Company’s financial position, results of operatioccmprehensive income or cash flows, other thandhated disclosures.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09 “Raxefrom Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)", whstipersedes the revenue
recognition requirements in ASC 605 “Revenue Reitmgri. This ASU is based on the principle thateaue is recognized to depict the
transfer of goods or services to customers in apuatrthat reflects the consideration to which thiitg expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. The ASU also requiregiaddi disclosure about the nature, amount, tingind uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows arising from customer contracts, includingrsficant judgments and changes in judgments asétasecognized from costs incurred to
obtain or fulfill a contract. The effective dateliMae the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 usinge®f two retrospective application

methods. The Company has not yet determined thenfiak impact on the Company’s financial positiesults of operations, comprehensive
income, cash flow and disclosures.



NOTE 2 — ACQUISITIONS, DIVESTITURES AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT TR ANSACTIONS

The following table summarizes the Company’s adtiarsactivity in 2014 and 2013 (Dollars in millisj

Purchase Pric Intangible
# of Tangible
Segmen Acquisitions net of Cast Assets, ne Assets Goodwill
Total 2014 Acquisitions 2 $ 53.t 2.1 14.C 34.4
Total 2013 Acquisitions — $ — — — —

Note: Purchase price, net of cash acquired, reptesash paid in the period of each acquisitiondoes not include assumed de
subsequent payments for deferred purchase adjustimeaarn-out provisions.

The Company completed two acquisitions and onestituee during the nine months ended July 31, 2@k acquisition was in the Rigid
Industrial Packaging & Services segment in Novenaper the other acquisition was in the Paper Pangagggment in November. The rigid
industrial packaging acquisition is expected to pment the Company’s existing product lines aravigie growth opportunities and
economies of scale. The paper packaging acquisitammade in part to obtain technologies, equipnart customer lists. The divestiture
included a nonstrategic business in the Rigid ItrtaifPackaging & Services segment in July andltedun a non-cash loss on sale of $9.1
million, which includes the write-off of allocategpodwill.

The Company sold membership units of a consolidsididiary in March 2014.
The Company completed no acquisitions and no natikiestitures for the nine months ended July281,3.

The Company has allocated purchase price as afates of acquisition based upon its understandibigined during due diligence and
through other sources, of the fair value of theuaregl assets and assumed liabilities. If additiomi@rmation is obtained about these assets
and liabilities within the measurement period (ftoéxceed one year from the date of acquisitiojuding through asset appraisals and
learning more about the newly acquired businessCibmpany may refine its estimates of fair valualkocate the purchase price more
accurately; however, any such revisions are noéeteg to be significant.

Pro Forma Information

In accordance with ASU 2010-29, “Disclosure of Seppentary Pro Forma Information for Business Coratiom,” the Company has
considered the effect of the 2014 acquisitionshenconsolidated statements of income for each g@resented. The revenue and operating
profit of the 2014 acquisitions included in the Gmny’s consolidated statements of income totaledl 86llion and $0.4 million,

respectively, for the three months ended July 8142and totaled $19.5 million and $2.2 million,pestively, for the nine months ended

July 31, 2014. All of the 2014 acquisitions werecompanies not listed on a stock exchange or ma&ratse publicly traded or not required to
provide public financial information. Pro forma udts of operations for the periods ending JulyZ114 and 2013, respectively, were not
materially different from reported results and, sequently, are not presented.

NOTE 3 — SALE OF NON-UNITED STATES ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

On April 27, 2012, Cooperage Receivables Finante @he “Main SPV”) and Greif Coordination Cente¥BA, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of Greif, Inc. (“Seller”), entered intee Nieuw Amsterdam Receivables Purchase AgreettentEuropean RPA”) with affiliates
of a major international bank (the “Purchasing Baffiiliates”). Under the European RPA, the Sellastagreed to sell trade accounts
receivables that meet certain eligibility requirensethat Seller had purchased from other indirdally owned subsidiaries of Greif, Inc.
under discounted receivables purchase agreemethitelated agreements. These other indirect wheliyenl subsidiaries of Greif, Inc.
include Greif Belgium BVBA, Pack2pack Rumbeke N.Nack2pack Zwolle B.V., Greif Nederland B.V., Pagaek Halsteren B.V., Greif
Italia S.p.A., Fustiplast S.p.A., Greif France SA.Pack2pack Lille S.A.S., Greif Packaging Spai SGreif UK Ltd., Greif Germany
GmbH, Fustiplast GmbH, Pack2pack Mendig GmbH, Greiftugal S.A., Greif Sweden Aktiebolag, Greif Pagikg Sweden Aktiebolag and
Greif Norway A.S. (the “Selling Subsidiaries”). Ugrdthe terms of a Performance and Indemnity Agregntiee performance obligations of
the Selling Subsidiaries under the transaction d@us have been guaranteed by Greif, Inc. The EParmRPA may be amended from tim
time to add additional subsidiaries of Greif, Ifibe maximum amount of receivables that may be aonttloutstanding under the European
RPA at any time is €145 million ($194.9 million @sJuly 31, 2014). A significant portion of the peeds from this trade receivables facility
was used to pay the obligations under a previadetreceivables facility, which was then terminatedl to pay expenses incurred in
connection with this transaction. The future pratseftom this facility will be available for workingapital and general corporate purposes.

8



In October 2007, Greif Singapore Pte. Ltd., anrietiwholly-owned subsidiary of Greif, Inc., entiato the Singapore Receivable Purchase
Agreement (the “Singapore RPAR)ith a major international bank. The maximum amaafraggregate receivables that may be financedn
the Singapore RPA is 15.0 million Singapore Dol@s2.1 million as of July 31, 2014).

In May 2009, Greif Malaysia Sdn Bhd., an indire¢tolly-owned subsidiary of Greif, Inc., entered ith@ Malaysian Receivables Purchase
Agreement (the “Malaysian Agreement”) with Malayslganks. In March 2014, the Malaysian Agreementaissontinued and therefore
there were no receivables held by third party faianinstitutions under this agreement as of JulyZ)14.

These transactions are structured to provide fyallue sales, on a revolving basis, of the rexddas transferred from the various Greif, Inc.
subsidiaries to the respective banks and affilidtesler these transactions, the banks and affilifated an initial purchase price of a certain
percentage of eligible receivables based on a flarmvith the initial purchase price approximatingprcent to 90 percent of eligible
receivables. The remaining deferred purchase fwisettled upon collection of the receivables;@ltih under the European RPA, the Seller
provides a subordinated loan to the Main SPV, wisalised to fund the remaining purchase price awdhke Selling Subsidiaries. The
repayment of the subordinated loan to the Sellpaid from the collections of the receivables. Athe balance sheet reporting dates, the
Company removes from accounts receivable the anafug#sh proceeds received from the initial pureharice since they meet the
applicable criteria of ASC 860, “Transfers and $&ng”, and continues to recognize the deferred purchase within other current assets
the Company'’s consolidated balance sheet as dintigethe receivables are initially sold; accordintfle difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the assets sold @teded as a loss on sale in the consolidated statsnof income within other expense, net.
The receivables are sold on a non-recourse bagtighe total funds in the servicing collection asets pledged to the banks between
settlement dates.

The table below contains certain information reldtethe Company’s accounts receivables prograroigi3 in millions):

Three months endec Nine months endec
July 31, July 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013
European RPA
Gross accounts receivable sold to third party fanarinstitution $266.7 $282.:: $784.C $790.
Cash received for accounts receivable sold undeptbgram: 235.2 249.2 692.( 699.(
Deferred purchase price related to accounts relsleivsnld 31.5 33.1 92.C 91.c
Loss associated with the progra 0.7 0.€ 2.C 1.8
Expenses associated with the progri — — — —
Singapore RPA
Gross accounts receivable sold to third party fiferinstitution $ 13.C $ 17.: $ 43.8 $ 52.¢
Cash received for accounts receivable sold undeptbgran 13.C 17.c 43.F 52.2
Deferred purchase price related to accounts relsleivsnld — — — —
Loss associated with the progri — — — —
Expenses associated with the prog — — 0.1 0.2
Malaysian Agreement
Gross accounts receivable sold to third party fiferinstitution $ — $ b5¢ $ 0.8 $ 174
Cash received for accounts receivable sold undeptbgran — 5.¢ 0.8 17.4
Deferred purchase price related to accounts relleivsld — — — —
Loss associated with the progri — — — 0.1
Expenses associated with the prog — — — —
Total RPAs and Agreement
Gross accounts receivable sold to third party fanarinstitution $279.7 $305f5 $828.1 $860.]
Cash received for accounts receivable sold undeptbgran 248.2 272.¢ 736.1 768.7
Deferred purchase price related to accounts relleivsld 31.t 33.1 92.C 91.t
Loss associated with the progri g 0.€ 2.C 1.¢
Expenses associated with the prog — — 0.1 0.2



The table below contains certain information relatethe Companyg accounts receivables programs and the impaasibh the Consolidat
Balance Sheets (Dollars in millions):

July 31, October 31
2014 2013
European RPA
Accounts receivable sold to and held by third péirtsincial institution $173.¢ $ 179.(
Uncollected deferred purchase price related towusaeceivable sol 5.2 11.5
Singapore RPA

Accounts receivable sold to and held by third péirtgncial institution $ 57 $ 4.4
Uncollected deferred purchase price related towatsareceivable sol —
Malaysian Agreement
Accounts receivable sold to and held by third péirtsincial institution $ — $ 4.t
Uncollected deferred purchase price related towusaeceivable sol — —
Total RPAs and Agreement
Accounts receivable sold to and held by third péirtsincial institution $179.: $ 187.¢
Uncollected deferred purchase price related towatsareceivable sol $ 5.z2 $ 11t

The deferred purchase price related to the accoangsvable sold is reflected as prepaid and atheent assets on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets and was initially tEmbat an amount which approximates its fair value to the short-term nature of these
items. The cash received initially and the defeperthase price relate to the sale or ultimateecttin of the underlying receivables and are
not subject to significant other risks given thaort nature; therefore, the Company reflectsadhdlows under the accounts receivable sales
programs as operating cash flows on the Compamyisalidated statements of cash flows.

Additionally, the Company performs collections auministrative functions on the receivables sohdilsir to the procedures it uses for
collecting all of its receivables, including recailes that are not sold under the European RP/itigapore RPA and the Malaysian
Agreement. The servicing liability for these re@iles is not material to the consolidated finarsiatements.

NOTE 4 — INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or etaakd are summarized as follows (Dollars in nrilip

July 31, October 31

2014 2013
Finished Goods $107.¢ $ 98t
Raw materials 265.( 240.¢
Work-in-process 38.4 36.4
$411.( $ 375.C

NOTE 5— ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE AND DISPOSALS OF PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND
BUSINESSES, NET

There was one asset group classified as assetmhbilities held for sale in the Flexible ProduétsServices segment, one asset group
classified as assets and liabilities held for galhe Paper Packaging segment and one asset gassgified as assets and liabilities held for
sale in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servicegraent as of July 31, 2014 and there were two gssaps classified as assets and liabil
held for sale in the Flexible Products & Servicegraent as of October 31, 2013. During the nine hwahded July 31, 2014, one asset group
classified as held for sale at October 31, 2013seés, another asset group previously classifieledd for sale at October 31, 2013 was
reclassed to other current assets, and durindhthe thonths ended July 31, 2014, one asset grosiglassified as held for sale in the Flex
Products & Services segment, one asset group wssifiéd as held for sale in the Paper Packagigmeet and one asset group was clas:

as held for sale in the Rigid Industrial Packagin8ervices segment . The assets and liabilitied foglsale are being marketed for sale and it
is the Company’s intention to complete the salehege assets within the upcoming year.

For the three months ended July 31, 2014, the Coyperorded a loss on disposal of property, pleaaipment and businesses, net of $7.7
million. There was a non-cash loss on the salelafsiness in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Segsisegment which resulted in a loss of
$9.1 million. The loss was partially offset by satéf higher and better use (“HBU”) and surplus s (for a description of Land
Management segment property classifications, seée Ng) which resulted in gains of $0.1 million iretLand Management segment, a sale of
equipment that was previously classified as held#&be in the Flexible Products & Services segmrich resulted in a gain of $1.1 million
and sales of other miscellaneous equipment whishlted in aggregate gains of $0.2 million.
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For the nine months ended July 31, 2014, the Coynpesorded a loss on disposal of property, plaoijmment and businesses, net of $4.2
million. There was a non-cash loss on the salelafsiness in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Segsisegment which resulted in a loss of
$9.1 million. The loss was offset by sales of HBWdl surplus properties which resulted in gains o8%gillion in the Land Management
segment, a disposal of property in the Paper Paugaggment that resulted in a gain of $0.8 milli@sale of equipment that was previously
classified as held for sale in the Flexible Prod&iServices segment that resulted in a gain df #fillion, sales of other miscellaneous
equipment and equity method investments which teduh aggregate gains of $0.2 million.

For the nine months ended July 31, 2014, the Cosnpenorded a gain of $16.9 million relating to #ade of timberland. For the three mor
ended July 31, 2014, there were no sales of tirmbdrlFor the three and nine months ended July@I13,2here were no sales of timberland.

NOTE 6 — GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table summarizes the changes in #treying amount of goodwill by segment for the nmenth period ended July 31, 2014
(Dollars in millions):

Rigid Industrial
Flexible Products &

Packaging & Land
Services Services Paper Packagin( Managemen Total

Balance at October 31, 2013 $ 867.: $ 76.2 $ 59.¢ $ — $1,003.!
Gooduwill acquirec 34.¢ — — — 34.£
Goodwill allocated to divestitures and

businesses held for s¢ (24.9) (21.9) (0.7) — (46.€)
Goodwill adjustment (7.6 — — — (7.€)
Currency translatio (13.0) 1.9 — — (15.0
Balance at July 31, 201 $ 856.1 $ 52.€ $ 59.2 $ — $ 968.f

Goodwill decreased by $35.0 million for the ninentioperiod ended July 31, 2014. The decrease idwitlavas primarily related to
goodwill allocated to the divestiture of an asgeug in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servicegment, reclassification of goodwill
associated with businesses held for sale, foraigrency fluctuations and a reclassification of emoant improperly classified as goodwill it
prior period, offset by goodwill acquired in an adsgtion in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servgcsegment.

The Company reviews goodwill by reporting unit andefinite-lived intangible assets for impairmentraquired by ASC 350, “Intangibles—
Goodwill and Other”, either annually in the fourtharter or whenever events and circumstances itedicgpairment may have occurred. A
reporting unit is the operating segment, or a mssrone level below that operating segment if diedinancial information is prepared and
regularly reviewed by segment management.

The Company performed an interim impairment analg$ithe goodwill for the Flexible Products & Sems$ reporting unit. Based on the
results of the interim impairment analysis of tle®dwill for the Flexible Products & Services refagtunit, it was concluded that no good
impairment was required as of July 31, 2014. Thienesed fair value of the Flexible Products & Sees reporting unit was approximately
34% greater than the carrying amount of its aggetgiding goodwill) and liabilities at July 31, 20.
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The following table summarizes the carrying amafriet intangible assets by class as of July 3142thd October 31, 2013 (Dollars in
millions):

Net
Accumulated Intangible
Gross Intangible Asset Amortization Assets

October 31, 201:
Trademark and pater $ 31.1 $ 4.2 $ 26.€
Non-compete agreemer 14.€ 12.€ 2.C
Customer relationshig 205.¢ 69.4 136.2
Other 23t 7.7 15.¢
Total $ 274.¢ $ 94.C $ 180.¢

July 31, 2014

Trademark and pater $ 30.¢ $ 4.4 $ 26t
Non-compete agreemer 6.2 5.1 1.2
Customer relationshig 200.¢ 77.2 123.:
Other 29.5 10.€ 18.4
Total $ 267.1 $ 97.7 $ 169.

Gross intangible assets decreased by $7.7 mikiothe nine month period ended July 31, 2014. T@wehse in gross intangible assets was
attributable to the write off of certain definitedd intangibles in the Rigid Industrial Packag&@ervices segment and currency fluctuation,
offset by the $14.0 million in preliminary purchgsgce allocations related to the two acquisitionmpleted in 2014. Amortization expense
for the three months ended July 31, 2014 and 2G#3%8.4 million and $5.1 million, respectively. Artipation expense for the nine months
ended July 31, 2014 and 2013 was $18.7 million&tr&l3 million, respectively. Amortization expense the next five years is expected to
$23.5 million in 2014, $21.5 million in 2015, $208llion in 2016, $20.1 million in 2017 and $19.6llfon in 2018.

All intangible assets for the periods presentedsalgect to amortization and are being amortizedgushe straight-line method over periods
that are contractually or legally determined ootlgh purchase price accounting, except for $14lkomielated to the Tri-Sure trademark
and trade names related to Blagden Express, Clospdand Box Board, all of which have indefiniteds. During the nine month period
ended July 31, 2014, certain intangible assetsquely identified as having indefinite lives weretermined to have definite lives, resulting
$2.5 million of amortization expense that was edao prior periods.

NOTE 7 — RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

The following is a reconciliation of the beginniagd ending restructuring reserve balances for it month period ended July 31, 2014
(Dollars in millions):

Employee
Separatior
Costs Other Costs Total
Balance at October 31, 2013 $ 1.8 $ 1.2 $ 3.C
Costs incurred and charged to expe 8.4 2.1 10.t
Costs paid or otherwise settl (6.9 (2.9 _(8.9)
Balance at July 31, 201 $ 3¢ $ 0.¢ $ 4.7

The focus for restructuring activities in 2014ag&tionalize operations and close underperformagggts in both the Flexible Products &
Services and Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servieegments. During the three months ended July 3¥4,28e Company recorded
restructuring charges of $4.2 million, which comgsato $1.9 million of restructuring charges durtihg three months ended July 31, 2013.
The restructuring activity for the three monthsexhduly 31, 2014 consisted of $3.7 million in enyple separation costs and $0.5 million in
other restructuring costs, primarily consistingpaffessional fees. During the nine months endegd 3L 2014, the Company recorded
restructuring charges of $10.5 million, which comgzato $2.7 million of restructuring charges during nine months ended July 31, 2013.
The restructuring activity for the nine months eshdaly 31, 2014 consisted of $8.4 million in empm@eyseparation costs and $2.1 million in
other restructuring costs, primarily consistindeazse termination costs and professional fees.
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The following is a reconciliation of the total anmisi expected to be incurred from open restructysiags or plans that are being formulated
and have not been announced as of the date dfahis 10-Q. Remaining amounts expected to be indumere $13.2 million and $6.6
million as of July 31, 2014 and October 31, 20&3pectively. The increase was due to the formulaifmew plans during the period offset
by the realization of expenses from plans formualateprior periods. (Dollars in millions):

Amounts
expensel
during
Amounts the nine
month Amounts
Expectec period Remaining
ended
to be July 31, to be
Incurred 2014 Incurred
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servic
Employee separation cos $ 9.¢ $ 4.8 $ 5.1
Other restructuring cos 6.2 1.C 5.3
16.Z 5.8 10.4
Flexible Products & Service
Employee separation co: 3.€ 3.€ —
Other restructuring cos 3.¢ 1.1 2.8
7.5 4.7 2.8
$ 23.7 $ 10.F $ 13.2

NOTE 8 — VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Company evaluates whether an entity is a Variakerest entity (“VIE”) whenever reconsideratievents occur and performs
reassessments of all VIE’s quarterly to determirilea primary beneficiary status is appropriatee Gompany consolidates VKefor which it
is the primary beneficiary. If the Company is rot primary beneficiary and an ownership interebeisl, the VIE is accounted for under the
equity or cost methods of accounting, as apprapriathen assessing the determination of the primangficiary, the Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances, including: thegydo direct the activities of the VIE that mosgjraficantly impact the VIE's economic
performance and the obligation to absorb the ergdosses and/or the right to receive the expeetienins of the VIE.

Significant Nonstrategic Timberland Transactions

On March 28, 2005, Soterra LLC (a wholly owned sdilasy) entered into two real estate purchase atelagreements with Plum Creek
Timberlands, L.P. (“Plum Creek”) to sell approximlgt56,000 acres of timberland and related aseettdd primarily in Florida for an
aggregate sales price of approximately $90 millgurbject to closing adjustments. In connection withclosing of one of these agreements,
Soterra LLC sold approximately 35,000 acres of #éndnd and associated assets in Florida, Georgli@kibama for $51.0 million, resulting
in a pretax gain of $42.1 million, on May 23, 200%e purchase price was paid in the form of cashaa®50.9 million purchase note payable
(the “Purchase Note”) by an indirect subsidiaryafm Creek (the “Buyer SPE"). Soterra LLC contrimlithe Purchase Note to STA Timber
LLC (“STA Timber”), one of the Company’s indirectwlly owned subsidiaries. The Purchase Note isreglcoy a Deed of Guarantee issued
by Bank of America, N.A., London Branch, in an ambnot to exceed $52.3 million (the “Deed of Guaeafi), as a guarantee of the due and
punctual payment of principal and interest on thecRase Note.

The Company completed the second phase of thesations in the first quarter of 2006. In this gghahe Company sold 15,300 acres of
timberland holdings in Florida for $29.3 millioresulting in a pre-tax gain of $27.4 million. Thedl phase of this transaction, approximately
5,700 acres sold for $9.7 million in the secondrtgraof 2006 which resulted in a pre-tax gain ofod®illion.

On May 31, 2005, STA Timber issued in a privateptaent its 5.20% Senior Secured Notes due Aug®Z) (the “Monetization Notes”)
in the principal amount of $43.3 million. In contiea with the sale of the Monetization Notes, STinber entered into note purchase
agreements with the purchasers of the Monetizéiotes (the “Note Purchase Agreements”) and reldtedmentation. The Monetization
Notes are secured by a pledge of the Purchaseaxddtéhe Deed of Guarantee. The Monetization Noteslme accelerated in the event (
default in payment or a breach of the other obiliget set forth therein or in the Note Purchase
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Agreements or related documents, subject in cecigies to any applicable cure periods, or uponc¢herrence of certain insolvency or
bankruptcy related events. The Monetization Notessabject to a mechanism that may cause thenmgaubjcertain conditions, to be
extended to November 5, 2020. The proceeds frorealeeof the Monetization Notes were primarily ufmdhe repayment of indebtedness.
Greif, Inc. and its other subsidiaries have noeeded any form of guaranty of the principal or iegt on the Monetization Notes.
Accordingly, Greif, Inc. and its other subsidianeidl not become directly or contingently liablerfthe payment of the Monetization Notes at
any time.

The Buyer SPE is deemed to be a VIE since assée duyer SPE are not able to satisfy the liabgibf the Buyer SPE. The Buyer SPE is a
separate and distinct legal entity from the Compamy no ownership interest in the Buyer SPE is hglthe Company, but the Company is
the primary beneficiary because it has (1) the paweirect the activities of the VIE that mostrficantly impact the VIE's economic
performance, and (2) the obligation to absorb lesgéhe VIE that could potentially be significaatthe VIE or the right to receive benefits
from the VIE that could potentially be significantthe VIE. As a result, Buyer SPE has been codatad into the operations of the Comp:

As of July 31, 2014 and October 31, 2013, assetisscoBuyer SPE consisted of $50.9 million of resédl bank financial instruments which
are expected to be held to maturity. For both efttitee month periods ended July 31, 2014 and 20&3Buyer SPE recorded interest incc
of $0.6 million. For both of the nine month pericatsded July 31, 2014 and 2013, the Buyer SPE redarderest income of $1.8 million.

As of July 31, 2014 and October 31, 2013, STA Tinta long-term debt of $43.3 million. For bothtloé three month periods ended
July 31, 2014 and 2013, STA Timber recorded integgpense of $0.6 million. For both of the nine ithoperiods ended July 31, 2014 and
2013, STA Timber recorded interest expense of #ilifon. STA Timber is exposed to credilated losses in the event of nonperformanc
the issuer of the Deed of Guarantee.

Flexible Packaging Joint Venture

On September 29, 2010, Greif, Inc. and its indiseddsidiary Greif International Holding Supra C(\Greif Supra”) formed a joint venture
(referred to herein as the “Flexible Packaging Jvith Dabbagh Group Holding Company Limited andsitbsidiary National Scientific
Company Limited (“NSC”). The Flexible Packaging d¥ns the operations in the Flexible Products & ®eiwssegment, with the exception
of the North American multi-wall bag business. Hiexible Packaging JV has been consolidated irdmrerations of the Company as of its
formation date of September 29, 2010.

The Flexible Packaging JV is deemed to be a VIEesthe total equity investment at risk is not Kigfint to permit the legal entity to finance
its activities without additional subordinated fivtéal support. The Company is the primary beneficiecause it has (1) the power to direct
the activities of the VIE that most significantimpact the VIE's economic performance, and (2) thiegation to absorb losses of the VIE that
could potentially be significant to the VIE or thight to receive benefits from the VIE that coulatgntially be significant to the VIE.

The economic and business purpose underlying talii¢ Packaging JV is to establish a global indaisfiexible products enterprise throu
a series of targeted acquisitions and major investain plant, machinery and equipment. All endientributed to the Flexible Packaging
were existing businesses acquired by Greif Supdatizat were reorganized under Greif Flexibles Ast#tling B.V. and Greif Flexibles
Trading Holding B.V. (“Asset Co.” and “Trading Cd.’fespectively. The Flexible Packaging JV alsdudes Global Textile Company LLC
(“Global Textile™), which owns and operates a falitub in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that commengpeérations in the fourth quarter of
2012. The Company has 51 percent ownership in iga@b. and 49 percent ownership in Asset Co. anth&I[Textile. However, Greif Sug
and NSC have equal economic interests in the Heeibckaging JV, notwithstanding the actual owngprstierests in the various legal
entities.

All investments, loans and capital contributions &r be shared equally by Greif Supra and NSC anH partner originally committed to
contribute capital of up to $150 million and obt#iird party financing for up to $150 million agjréred.
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The following table presents the Flexible Packagi¥gotal net assets (Dollars in millions):

Flexible
Global Trading Packaging
Asset
October 31, 201 Co. Textile Co. JV
Total assets $155.5 $44.¢ $163.¢ $ 364.(
Total liabilities 209.¢ 1.2 57.: 268.:
Net asset $(54.9) $43.7 $106.: $ 95.7
Flexible
Global Trading Packaginc
Asset
July 31, 2014 Co. Textile Co. JV
Total assets $154.( $38.2 $166.4 $ 358.¢
Total liabilities 145.2 2.1 48.2 195.k
Net asset $ 8.& $36.1 $118.2 $ 163.1

In April 2014, there was a conversion of the shertn loans payable and accrued interest to edTiitig. transaction was comprised of loans
payable to another Greif entity and those payabM3C. As of October 31, 2013, Asset Co. had ontlitey advances to NSC of $0.6 million
which were being used to fund certain costs incuimehe Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in respect of thleric hub. These advances were
recorded within the current portion related paryes and advances receivable on the Company’s lidetsal balance sheet. As of

October 31, 2013, Asset Co. and Trading Co. hetdt$brm loans payable to NSC for $12.7 millionaeted within shorterm borrowings o
the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. Thess lgare interest bearing and were used to fundioesperational requirements. The
Company will cease operations of the fabric huthanKingdom of Saudi Arabia during the fourth geaxf 2014.

Net losses attributable to the noncontrolling iegtiin the Flexible Packaging JV for the three mesmnded July 31, 2014 and 2013 were
million and $1.0 million, respectively; and for thene months ended July 31, 2014 and 2013, ne¢dastributable to the noncontrolling
interest were $9.2 million and $2.1 million, respeay.

Non-United States Accounts Receivable VIE

As further described in Note 3, Cooperage Recedsabinance B.V. is a party to the European RPApEwage Receivables Finance B.V. is
deemed to be a VIE since this entity is not ableatisfy its liabilities without the financial supgp from the Company. While this entity is a
separate and distinct legal entity from the Compamy no ownership interest in this entity is hefdiee Company, the Company is the
primary beneficiary because it has (1) the powaelittect the activities of the VIE that most sigoéntly impact the VIE's economic
performance, and (2) the obligation to absorb lesd¢he VIE that could potentially be significdatthe VIE. As a result, Cooperage
Receivables Finance B.V. has been consolidatedhetoperations of the Company.

NOTE 9 — LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt is summarized as follows (Dollarsnitlions):

October 31

July 31,

2014 2013

Amended Credit Agreement $ 233.¢ $ 222¢
Senior Notes due 201 301.¢ 301.¢
Senior Notes due 201 245.C 244 ¢
Senior Notes due 20z 266.2 272.¢
Amended Receivables Facili 170.C 140.(
Other lon¢-term debt 29.¢ 35.2
1,246.: 1,217.:
Less current portio (17.5) (10.0
Long-term debt $1,228.¢ $ 1,207.:
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Credit Agreement

On December 19, 2012, the Company and two of tisriational subsidiaries amended and restated dhg@nys existing $1.0 billion senic
secured credit agreement with a syndicate of fiiguntstitutions (the “Amended Credit AgreemenfThe Amended Credit Agreement
provides the Company with an $800 million revolvimglticurrency credit facility and a $200 millioartm loan, both expiring in December
2017, with an option to add $250 million to theilities with the agreement of the lenders. The $&0llion term loan is scheduled to
amortize by the payment of principal in the amaefr$2.5 million each quarter-end for the first digharters, beginning January 2013, the
payment of $5.0 million each quarter-end for theteelve quarters and the payment of the remaibailgnce on the maturity date. The
revolving credit facility under the Amended Creflgreement is available to fund ongoing working talpind capital expenditure needs, for
general corporate purposes and to finance acaurisitinterest is based on a Eurodollar rate oisa bate that resets periodically plus an
agreed upon margin amount. The total availabledwang under this facility was $732.8 million asXhfly 31, 2014, which has been reduced
by $15.9 million for outstanding letters of credit.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains financiakeoawnts that require the Company to maintain aicdgaerage ratio and an interest
coverage ratio. The leverage ratio generally reguihat at the end of any fiscal quarter the Compalhnot permit the ratio of (a) the
Company’s total consolidated indebtedness, toh@®)dompany’s consolidated net income plus depieniadepletion and amortization,
interest expense (including capitalized interéstipme taxes, and minus certain extraordinary gafasnon-recurring gains (or plus certain
extraordinary losses and non-recurring losses)pdugior minus certain other items for the precedinglve months (“adjusted EBITDA”") to
be greater than 4.00 to 1. The interest coverdgeganerally requires that at the end of any fisgerter the Company will not permit the
ratio of (a) the Company’s consolidated adjustedTER\ to (b) the Company’s consolidated interestenxge to the extent paid or payable, to
be less than 3.00 to 1, during the preceding tweleath period (the “Interest Coverage Ratio CovéhaAs of July 31, 2014, the Company
was in compliance with these covenants.

The terms of the Amended Credit Agreement limit@oenpany’s ability to make “restricted paymentsHieh include dividends and
purchases, redemptions and acquisitions of the @agrip equity interests. The repayment of amounteolaeed under the Amended Credit
Agreement are secured by a security interest ipéngonal property of Greif, Inc. and certain &f @ompany’s United States subsidiaries,
including equipment and inventory and certain igthle assets, as well as a pledge of the capaaksif substantially all of the Company’s
United States subsidiaries. The repayment of ansdamtrowed under the Amended Credit Agreementsis sgcured, in part, by capital stock
of the nonU.S. subsidiaries that are parties to the AmendediCAgreement. However, in the event that the Gany receives and maintai
an investment grade rating from either Moody’s Btees Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor’s Corporgtthe Company may request the
release of such collateral. The payment of outstengrincipal under the Amended Credit Agreemert accrued interest thereon may be
accelerated and become immediately due and paypblethe Compang’default in its payment or other performance atilans or its failur
to comply with the financial and other covenantshia Amended Credit Agreement, subject to applealbtice requirements and cure periods
as provided in the Amended Credit Agreement.

During the three months ended July 31, 2014 an@,20& Company recorded no debt extinguishmengesaDuring the nine months ended
July 31, 2014, the Company recorded no debt exishguent charges. During the nine months ended31lY013, the Company recorded
debt extinguishment charges of $1.3 million reagltirom the write off of unamortized deferred fisarg costs associated with the 2010
Credit Agreement (as defined below). Financingsassociated with the Amended Credit Agreemenlingt&3.4 million have been
capitalized and included in other long term assets.

On October 29, 2010, the Company obtained a $1i0rbsenior secured credit facility pursuant toAamended and Restated Credit
Agreement with a syndicate of financial institusofthe “2010 Credit Agreement”). The 2010 Credirégment provided for a $750 million
revolving multicurrency credit facility and a $2&0llion term loan, both expiring October 29, 20%8th an option to add $250 million to the
facilities with the agreement of the lenders. TB&®million term loan was scheduled to amortizesByl million each quarteznd for the firs
eight quarters, $6.3 million each quarter-end lierext eleven quarters and the remaining balane®d the maturity date. The 2010 Credit
Agreement was replaced by the Amended Credit Ages¢m

As of July 31, 2014, $233.8 million was outstandimgier the Amended Credit Agreement. The currerttqroof the Amended Credit
Agreement was $17.5 million and the long-term portivas $216.3 million. The weighted average intai@e on the Amended Credit
Agreement was 1.68% for the nine months ended3I4I2014. The actual interest rate on the AmendediCAgreement was 1.56% as of
July 31, 2014.

Senior Notes due 2017

On February 9, 2007, the Company issued $300.@omitlf 6.75% Senior Notes due February 1, 201 2ré&st on these Senior Notes is
payable semi-annually. Proceeds from the issuafitteese Senior Notes were principally used to fihepurchase of previously outstanding
8.875% Senior Subordinated Notes in a tender affdrfor general corporate purposes.

The Indenture pursuant to which these Senior Nwte issued contains certain covenants. As of Ju/y2014, the Company was in
compliance with these covenants.
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Senior Notes due 2019

On July 28, 2009, the Company issued $250.0 mitibn.75% Senior Notes due August 1, 2019. Intevaghese Senior Notes is payable
semiannually. Proceeds from the issuance of these BNi@s were principally used for general corpomtgoses, including the repaym
of amounts outstanding under the Company’s revglwmulticurrency credit facility, without any perment reduction of the commitments
thereunder.

The Indenture pursuant to which these Senior No&Fg issued contains certain covenants. As of 32014, the Company was in
compliance with these covenants.

Senior Notes due 2021

On July 15, 2011, Greif, Inc.’s wholly-owned subargt Greif Nevada Holdings, Inc., S.C.S. (forme@yeif Luxembourg Finance S.C.A),
issued £00.0 million of 7.375% Senior Notes due July 1&P. These Senior Notes are fully and unconditigrialaranteed on a senior be
by Greif, Inc. Interest on these Senior Notes igpte semi-annually. A portion of the proceeds fithim issuance of these Senior Notes was
used to repay non-U.S. borrowings under the 20Edi€CAgreement, without any permanent reductiothefcommitments thereunder, and
the remaining proceeds are available for generglarate purposes, including the financing of adtjoiss.

The Indenture pursuant to which these Senior No&Fe issued contains certain covenants. As of 32014, the Company was in
compliance with these covenants.

United States Trade Accounts Receivable Credit Facility

On September 30, 2013, the Company amended amdee s existing receivables financing facilityestablish a $170 million United States
Trade Accounts Receivable Credit Facility (the “Arded Receivables Facility”) with a financial ingtibn. The Amended Receivables
Facility matures in September 2016. In additioe, @ompany can terminate the Amended Receivablghtyat any time upon five days
prior written notice. The Amended Receivables Fgds secured by certain of the Company’s tradmaats receivable in the United States
and bears interest at a variable rate based dootion Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or an agplble base rate, plus a margin, or a
commercial paper rate plus a margin. Interestyabplg on a monthly basis and the principal balasgayable upon termination of the
Amended Receivables Facility. The Amended Rece@sbhcility also contains certain covenants andtsw& default, including a
requirement that the Company maintain a certagrést coverage ratio, which requires that at tlileadrany fiscal quarter the Company will
not permit the Interest Coverage Ratio Covenabgttess than 3.00 to 1 during the applicable trgitivelve-month period. As of July 31,
2014, the Company was in compliance with this camtnProceeds of the Amended Receivables Facilityaailable for working capital and
general corporate purposes.

Until September 30, 2013, the Company had a UaBletaccounts receivable credit facility with a fig@l institution (the “Prior Receivables
Facility”). The Prior Receivables Facility was arded on September 19, 2011, which decreased therdragailable to the borrowers from
$135.0 million to $130.0 million and extended theination date of the commitment to Septembe20%4. The Prior Receivables Facility
was secured by certain of the Company’s trade axtsoeceivable in the United States and bore isterea variable rate based on the
applicable base rate or other agreed-upon rategptoargin amount. In addition, the Prior Receivalflacility was terminable at any time
upon five days prior written notice. A significgmrtion of the initial proceeds from the Prior Reebles Facility was used to pay the
obligations under the previous trade accounts vabée credit facility, which was terminated. Thengning proceeds were used to pay ce
fees, costs and expenses incurred in connectidnthét Prior Receivables Facility and for workingital and general corporate purposes.
agreement for the Prior Receivables Facility corgdifinancial covenants that required the Compangaintain the same leverage ratio and
fixed charge ratio as set forth in the 2010 Crégditeement. On December 19, 2012, this leverage veds deleted and the interest coverage
ratio set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement imatuded. On September 30, 2013, the Prior Reb&gaFacility was terminated and
replaced with the Amended Receivables Facility.

Greif Receivables Funding LLC (“GRF"3n indirect subsidiary of the Company, has paiggd in the purchase and transfer of receivabl
connection with these credit facilities and is ird#d in the Company’s consolidated financial stateism However, because GRF is a separate
and distinct legal entity from the Company anditser subsidiaries, the assets of GRF are notablaito satisfy the liabilities and obligatic

of the Company and its other subsidiaries. Thigyeptirchases and services the Company’s tradeuatsoeceivable that were subject to the
Prior Receivables Facility and that are subjethéeoAmended Receivables Facility.
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Other

In addition to the amounts borrowed under the Aneen@redit Agreement and proceeds from the Senites\Nand the Amended Receivables
Facility, as of July 31, 2014, the Company had tamiding other debt of $107.6 million, compriseds@d.8 million in long-term debt and
$77.8 million in short-term borrowings, comparedtber debt outstanding of $99.3 million, comprieé®35.2 million in long-term debt and
$64.1 million in short-term borrowings, as of Oaol31, 2013.

As of July 31, 2014, the current portion of the Qamy’s long-term debt was $17.5 million. Annual ordies, including the current portion,
of long-term debt under the Company’s various faiag arrangements were $2.5 million in 2014, $5filion in 2015, $190.0 million in
2016, $321.4 million in 2017, $171.3 million in Zand $511.4 million thereafter.

As of July 31, 2014 and October 31, 2013, the Comped deferred financing fees and debt issuanses ©b $11.1 million and $13.4
million, respectively, which are included in otheng-term assets.

NOTE 10— FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivatives from time to time iigate partially the effect of exposure to intenege movements, exposure to currency
fluctuations and energy cost fluctuations. UndeCAR 5, “Derivatives and Hedging”, all derivativee @& be recognized as assets or
liabilities on the balance sheet and measuredratdbue. Changes in the fair value of derivatiaes recognized in either net income or in
other comprehensive income, depending on the datsidrpurpose of the derivative.

While the Company may be exposed to credit loss#se event of nonperformance by the counterpaitiés derivative financial instrument
contracts, its counterparties are established banétSinancial institutions with high credit ratsxgthe Company has no reason to believe that
such counterparties will not be able to fully Sgtibeir obligations under these contracts.

During the next twelve months, the Company exptecteclassify into earnings a net loss from accatea other comprehensive income of
approximately $0.2 million after tax at the time timderlying hedge transactions are realized.

ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosudefihes fair value, establishes a framework for sneag fair value in GAAP and
expands disclosures about fair value measurementsméncial and non-financial assets and lialititiAdditionally, this guidance established
a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizhe inputs used to measure fair value. This hisarequires entities to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobsésviaputs.

The three levels of inputs used to measure faireshbre as follows:
* Level 1- Observable inputs such as unadjusted quoted pricGegive markets for identical assets and liaibail
* Level 2- Observable inputs other than quoted prices in actiarkets for identical assets and liabilit

» Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are suppdpielittle or no market activity and that are sfiggrant to the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents the fair value fordb@ssets and (liabilities) measured on a recub@sgs as of July 31, 2014 (Dollars in
millions):

October 31, 201

Fair Value Measurement Balance shee
Level1 LevelZ Level 3 Total Location
Interest rate derivatives $— $(09 $— $(0.9) Other lon¢-term liabilities
Foreign exchange hedg — 0.2 — 0.2 Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Foreign exchange hedg — (1.0 — (1.C) Other current liabilitie:
Total* $— $(16 $— 316
July 31, 2014
Fair Value Measurement Balance shee
Level1 LevelZ Level 8 Total Location
Interest rate derivatives $— $(049 $— $(0.4) Other lon¢-term liabilities
Foreign exchange hedg — 0.1 — 0.1 Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Foreign exchange hedg — (0.2 — (0.2) Other current liabilitie:
Total* $— $(05 $—  $0.5

*  The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalénatde accounts receivable, accounts payablegmuiabilities and short-term
borrowings as of July 31, 2014 approximate thairfalues because of the short-term nature of thiests and are not included in this
table.

I nterest Rate Derivatives

The Company has interest rate swap agreementsavithus maturities through December 2014. Thes¥dst rate swap agreements are usec
to manage the Company’s fixed and floating rate dek, specifically the Amended Credit AgreemerfieTassumptions used in measuring
fair value of these interest rate derivatives anesadered level 2 inputs, which were based onéstdrom the counterparties based upon the
LIBOR and interest paid based upon a designatedi fiate over the life of the swap agreements. THegeative instruments are designated
and qualify as cash flow hedges. Accordingly, tfieative portion of the gain or loss on these datixe instruments is reported as a
component of other comprehensive income and refitebito earnings in the same line item assocdiatéh the forecasted transaction ani

the same period during which the hedged transaefi@cts earnings. The ineffective portion of tkaéngor loss on the derivative instrument is
recognized in earnings immediately.

As of July 31, 2014, the Company has two interatst derivatives (floating to fixed swap agreemeletsignated as cash flow hedges) with a
total notional amount of $150 million. Under theseap agreements, the Company receives interest bgsa a variable interest rate from
counterparties (weighted average of 0.15% as gf3l 2014 and 0.17% as of October 31, 2013) apd ppéerest based upon a fixed interest
rate (weighted average of 0.75% as of July 31, 2010.75% as of October 31, 2013). Losses refid$d earnings under these contracts
were $0.2 million and $0.2 million for the three mtlas ended July 31, 2014 and 2013, respectivelyware $0.7 million and $0.6 million fi
the nine months ended July 31, 2014 and 2013, cégply. These losses were recorded within the clidasted statements of income as
interest expense, net. The fair value of theseraotgt was $0.2 million and $0.6 million recordecatumulated other comprehensive income
as of July 31, 2014 and October 31, 2013, respagtiv

Foreign Exchange Hedges

The Company conducts business in various intemalicurrencies and is subject to risks associatddalianging foreign exchange rates.
Company’s objective is to reduce volatility asstmibwith foreign exchange rate changes. Accordirthly Company enters into various
contracts that change in value as foreign excheaitge change to protect the value of certain exgstireign currency assets and liabilities,
commitments and anticipated foreign currency céshs.

As of July 31, 2014, the Company had outstandimgi§m currency forward contracts in the notionabamt of $115.7 million ($137.6 millic
as of October 31, 2013). At July 31, 2014, thesesdtve instruments were designated and qualifiedair value hedges. Adjustments to fair
value for fair value hedges are recognized in egjioffsetting the impact of the hedged item. adsumptions used in measuring fair value
of foreign exchange hedges are considered levgh$, which were based on observable market gricinsimilar instruments, principally
foreign exchange futures contracts. Losses recardddr fair value contracts were $2.5 million add2$million for the three months ended
July 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively; and were 8#llon and $0.8 million for the nine months endhady 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Energy Hedges

The Company is exposed to changes in the pricertdioc commaodities. The Company’s objective isaduce volatility associated with
forecasted purchases of these commodities to allanagement of the Company to focus its attentiobusiness operations. Accordingly,
Company may enter into derivative contracts to rgarthe price risk associated with certain of tHesecasted purchases.

From time to time, the Company has entered inttagecash flow hedges to mitigate its exposureotst fluctuations in natural gas prices.
Under such hedge agreements, the Company woulé sgprchase natural gas at a fixed price. There wo energy hedges in effect as of
July 31, 2014 or October 31, 2013.

Other financial instruments

The fair values of the Company’s Amended Credite®gnent and the Amended Receivables Facility donadérially differ from carrying
value as the Company’s cost of borrowing is vagabid approximates current borrowing rates. Thevédues of the Company’s long-term
obligations are estimated based on either the duotket prices for the same or similar issuesiercurrent interest rates offered for the debt
of the same remaining maturities, which are comeiéevel 2 inputs in accordance with ASC Topic ,828ir Value Measurements and
Disclosures.

The following table presents the estimated faiugalfor the Company’s Senior Notes and the Assdtslly special purpose entities (Dollars
in millions):

Julx 31, 201« October 31, 201
Senior Notes due 201
Estimated fair valu $ 327.( $ 334t
Senior Notes due 201
Estimated fair valu 288.¢ 289.¢
Senior Notes due 202
Estimated fair valu 320.¢ 317.¢
Assets held by special purpose enti
Estimated fair valu 54.2 50.1

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements
Long-Lived Assets

The Company may close or sell facilities or bussessduring the next few years as part of restringfypians to rationalize costs and realize
benefits of synergies. The assumptions used in umiegsfair value of long-lived assets are considdexel 2 inputs, which include bids
received from third parties, recent purchase offansl market comparables.

During the three months ended July 31, 2014 an@,2b& Company recognized asset impairment chafggk5.4 million and $2.3 million,
respectively. These charges included $4.3 millioch $2.3 million of impairment charges related tstmecturing plans during the three mor
ended July 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Dutiegnine months ended July 31, 2014 and 2013, ¢timep@ny recognized asset impairment
charges of $15.6 million and $4.6 million, respesly. These charges included $4.5 million and $2ilion of impairment charges related to
restructuring plans during the nine months endéd 3, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Assetsand Liabilities Held for Sale

The assumptions used in measuring fair value @tassd liabilities held for sale are considere@ll@ inputs, which include recent purchase
offers, market comparables and/or data obtainad frommercial real estate brokers. During the nioatinperiod ended July 31, 2014, the
Company has not recorded additional impairmentedlto assets which were previously classifiedsasta and liabilities held for sale.
During the nine month period ended July 31, 2068 Gompany recorded no impairment related to asdath were previously classified as
assets and liabilities held for sale.
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Goodwill and Long Lived I ntangible Assets

On an annual basis or whenever events or circumssandicate impairment may have occurred, the Gowyperforms impairment tests for
goodwill and long lived intangible assets as definader ASC 350, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Othértfe Company concluded that no
impairment existed as of July 31, 2014 or Octoler2®13.

Pension Plan Assets

On an annual basis the Company compares the addetds of the pension plan to targets establisghethe Company. The pension plan
assets are categorized as either equity secudibs,securities, fixed income securities, insuesamenuities, or other assets, which are
considered level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair vatlbeasurements. The typical asset holdings include:

* Mutual funds: Valued at the Net Asset Va“*NAV” available daily in an observable mark
« Common collective trusts: Unit value calculateddshen the observable NAV of the underlying investm
e Pooled separate accounts: Unit value calculategicbas the observable NAV of the underlying investm

» Government and corporate debt securities: \(hhased on readily available inputs such as yiefgrice of bonds of comparable
quality, coupon, maturity and typ

» Insurance Annuity: Value is derived based on tHaevaf the corresponding liabilit

NOTE 11— STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock-based compensation is accounted for in aaocsiwith ASC 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensdtwhich requires companies
estimate the fair value of share-based awardseddke of grant using an option-pricing model. Vakie of the portion of the award that is
ultimately expected to vest is recognized as amres@ in the Company’s consolidated statementscofiie over the requisite service periods.
The Company uses the straight-line single optiothotkof expensing stock options to recognize corsgion expense in its consolidated
statements of income for all share-based awardsauBe sharbased compensation expense is based on awardsehatimately expected
vest, share-based compensation expense will beeddo account for estimated forfeitures. ASC Hduires forfeitures to be estimated at
the time of grant and revised, if necessary, irsegbent periods if actual forfeitures differ frdmoge estimates. No stock options were gre

in 2014 or 2013. For any options granted in tharitcompensation expense will be based on the dede fair value estimated in accorda
with the provisions of ASC 718.

NOTE 12— INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense was $28.2 million for the tlgjnarter of 2014 compared with $25.9 million for thed quarter of 2013. The Company’s
effective tax rate was 75.2 percent for the thindrter of 2014 versus 35.2 percent for the thirarggr of 2013. The higher third quarter 2014
effective tax rate reflects the impact of the faling: a shift in global earnings mix to countrieghahigher tax rates; the tax effect of non-cash
losses from the sale of a business; the forec#axeeffect of a planned sale of an asset groupinvitie Flexible Products & Services repor
unit classified as assets held for sale; and thpaahof a $3.5 million discrete tax expense. Tisemite tax expense is a net amount mainly
consisting of a $7.0 million expense related toittzeease in valuation allowances for internationadsidiaries and a benefit of $3.0 million
related to the return to provision adjustmentsriternational subsidiaries.

The Company has estimated the reasonably possbthange in its unrecognized tax benefits thralid 31, 2015 under ASC 740,
“Income Taxes”. The Company’s estimate is basedxmected settlements, payments of uncertain taxigros and lapses of applicable
statutes of limitations. The estimated net decr@asarecognized tax benefits for the next 12 meménges from $0 to $18 million. Actual
results may differ materially from this estimate.
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NOTE 13— RETIREMENT PLANS AND POSTRETIREMENT HEALTH CARE AND _ LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS

The components of net periodic pension cost incthddollowing (Dollars in millions):

Three months endec Nine months endec
July 31, July 31,

2014 2013 2014 2013
Service cost $ 3.¢ $ 4.2 $11.7 $12.€
Interest cos 7.4 6.€ 22.2 20.7
Expected return on plan ass (8.5 (8.2 (25.5 (24.9)
Amortization of prior service cost, initial net asand net actuarial ga 2.7 4.2 8.1 12.€
Net periodic pension cos $ 5E $ 7.2 $16.E $21.€

The Company made $9.9 million in pension contritmgiin the nine months ended July 31, 2014. Thefaomestimates $13.2 million of
pension contributions for the twelve months endetb@er 31, 2014.

The components of net periodic cost for postreteetnioenefits include the following (Dollars in rohs):

Three months endec Nine months endec
July 31, July 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Service cost $ — $ — $ — $ —
Interest cos 0.2 0.2 0.€ 0.€
Amortization of prior service cost and recognizetlarial gair (0.9 (0.9 (1.2 (1.2)
Net periodic benefit for postretirement bene $ 02 $ (02 $ (0.6 $ (0.6

NOTE 14— CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Litigation-related Liabilities

The Company may become involved from time-to-timéitigation and regulatory matters incidentalt®obusiness, including governmental
investigations, enforcement actions, personal ynglaims, product liability, employment health asafety matters, commercial disputes,
intellectual property matters, disputes regardimgrenmental clean-up costs, litigation in connectwith acquisitions and divestitures, and
other matters arising out of the normal condudtbusiness. The Company intends to vigoroushgnigftself in such litigation. The
Company does not believe that the outcome of angipg litigation will have a material adverse effea its consolidated financial
statements.

Environmental Reserves

As of July 31, 2014 and October 31, 2013, enviramaeeserves of $25.7 million and $26.8 millioespectively, were included in other
long-term liabilities and were recorded on an ucaisited basis. These reserves are principally basetivironmental studies and cost
estimates provided by third parties, but also iake account management estimates. The estimathbilities are reduced to reflect the
anticipated participation of other potentially respible parties in those instances where it is @otgbthat such parties are legally responsible
and financially capable of paying their respecthares of relevant costs. For sites that involven&b actions subject to joint and several
liabilities, these actions have formal agreememdace to apportion the liability. As of July 2014 and October 31, 2013, environmental
reserves of the Company included $13.8 million $08.8 million, respectively, for its blending fagilin Chicago, lllinois, $7.2 million and
$7.7 million, respectively, for various Europeanmrfacilities acquired from Blagden and Van Le&;38million and $2.3 million,
respectively, for its various container life cyab@nagement and recycling facilities acquired in128td 2010, and $2.4 million and $3.0
million for various other facilities around the wabr

The Company’s exposure to adverse developmentsresihect to any individual site is not expecteddanaterial. Although environmental
remediation could have a material effect on resafligperations if a series of adverse developmeexdsr in a particular quarter or year, the
Company believes that the chance of a series @radwevelopments occurring in the same quartgearis remote. Future information and
developments will require the Company to continuetlassess the expected impact of these enviroainmaatters.
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NOTE 15—EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Company has two classes of common stock arslichs applies the “two-class method” of computagnings per share (“EPS”) as
prescribed in ASC 260, “Earnings Per Share.” Iroeatance with this guidance, earnings are allocfitstto Class A and Class B Common
Stock to the extent that dividends are actually geid the remainder allocated assuming all of &neiegs for the period have been distribt
in the form of dividends.

The Company calculates Class A EPS as followsn(ltiply 40 percent times the average Class A shawmstanding, then divide that amo
by the product of 40 percent of the average Clashakes outstanding plus 60 percent of the aveZégs B shares outstanding to get a
percentage, (ii) undistributed net income dividgdhe average Class A shares outstanding, (iiitipiulitem (i) by item (ii), (iv) add item
(iii) to the Class A cash dividend per share. Eithshares are factored into the Class A calculation

The Company calculates Class B EPS as followsa(i}iply 60 percent times the average Class B shanéstanding, then divide that amount
by the product of 40 percent of the average Claskakes outstanding plus 60 percent of the aveZ#ges B shares outstanding to get a
percentage, (ii) undistributed net income dividgdhe average Class B shares outstanding, (iiifiptulitem (i) by item (ii), (iv) add item

(iii) to the Class B cash dividend per share. Cisluted EPS is identical to Class B basic EPS.

The following table provides EPS information fockaeriod, respectively:

Three months endec Nine months endec
July 31, July 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Numerator for basic and diluted El

Net income attributable to Greif, In $ 122 $ 46.7 $77.F $ 110.f

Cash dividend 240 24.¢ 73.€ 73.€

Undistributed net income attributable to Greif, .l $ (125 $ 221 $ 3.7 $ 36.€
Denominator for basic EF

Class A common stoc 25.€ 25.2 25.F 25.4

Class B common stoc 22.1 22.1 22.1 22.1
Denominator for diluted EP

Class A common stoc 25.€ 25.F 25.F 25.4

Class B common stoc 22.1 22.1 22.1 22.1
EPS Basic

Class A common stoc $ 0.21 $ 0.8C $1.32 $ 1.8¢

Class B common stoc $ 0.31 $ 1.2C $ 1.9¢ $ 2.8¢
EPS Dilutec

Class A common stoc $ 0.21 $ 0.8C $1.32 $ 1.8¢

Class B common stoc $ 0.31 $ 1.2C $ 1.9¢ $ 2.8:
Dividends per shar

Class A common stoc $ 0.4z $ 0.42 $1.2¢ $ 1.2¢

Class B common stoc $ 0.6 $ 0.6 $ 1.8¢ $ 1.8¢

Class A Common Stock is entitled to cumulative digrids of one cent a share per year after whicrs@a8ommon Stock is entitled to non-
cumulative dividends up to a half-cent a shareypar. Further distribution in any year must be miadgroportion of one cent a share for
Class A Common Stock to one and a half cents agbaClass B Common Stock. The Class A Commonk3tas no voting rights unless
four quarterly cumulative dividends upon the ClasSommon Stock are in arrears. The Class B ComntockShas full voting rights. There
is no cumulative voting for the election of dirersto
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Common stock repurchases

The Company’s Board of Directors has authorizedptivehase of up to four million shares of Class@mnon Stock or Class B Common
Stock or any combination of the foregoing. Durihg hine months ended July 31, 2014 and 2013, tihep@oy repurchased no shares of
Class A or Class B Common Stock, respectively. Atuty 31, 2014, the Company had repurchased T¥84%hares, including 1,425,452
shares of Class A Common Stock and 1,758,820 sba@ass B Common Stock, under this program, faltlsich were repurchased in prior
years. There were no shares repurchased from NarehmR012 through July 31, 201

The following table summarizes the Company’s CRssd Class B common and treasury shares as aptwfied dates:

Outstanding

Authorized Shares Issued Share Shares Treasury Share
October 31, 201z
Class A Common Stoc 128,000,00 42,281,92 25,456,72 16,825,19
Class B Common Stoc 69,120,00 34,560,00 22,119,96 12,440,03
July 31, 2014
Class A Common Stoc 128,000,00 42,281,92 25,618,45 16,663,46
Class B Common Stoc 69,120,00 34,560,00 22,119,96 12,440,03

The following is a reconciliation of the sharesdige calculate basic and diluted earnings per share

Three months endec Nine months endec
July 31, July 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Class A Common Stoc!

Basic share 25,576,45 25,435,37 25,529,04 25,380,75
Assumed conversion of stock optic 4,93¢ 29,48: 10,58’ 28,337
Diluted share! 25,581,39 25,464,86 25,539,63 25,409,09
Class B Common Stoc

Basic and diluted shart 22,119,96 22,119,96 22,119,96 22,119,96

No stock options were antidilutive for the threel ine month periods ended July 31, 2014 and 2@kRectively

NOTE 16 —EQUITY EARNINGS OF UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES, NET O F TAX AND NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE
TO NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax

Equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, nfeiaa represent the Company’s share of earningsfitiites in which the Company does not
exercise control and has a 20 percent or more yatierest. Investments in such affiliates are anted for using the equity method of
accounting. If the fair value of an investment immadfiliate is below its carrying value and thefeience is deemed to be other than temporary,
the difference between the fair value and the dagryalue is charged to earnings. The Company hasyaity interest in four such affiliates.
Equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, nietax for the three months ended July 31, 20142018 were $0.7 million and $1.2 million,
respectively. There were no dividends received floenCompany’s equity method affiliates for theethmonths ended July 31, 2014.
Dividends received were $0.2 million for the threenths ended July 31, 2013. Equity earnings of nsalidated affiliates, net of tax for the
nine months ended July 31, 2014 and 2013 wererli®n and $1.5 million, respectively. Dividendsceived from the Company’s equity
method affiliates were $0.2 million for both ninenth periods ended July 31, 2014 and 2013. The @agnpas made loans to an entity
deemed a VIE and accounted for as an unconsolidapigith investment. These loans bear interestr@usinterest rates. The original
principal balance of these loans was $22.2 millfss of July 31, 2014, these loans had an outstgriaittence of $13.0 million.
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Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests represent the portion of earnings or ldssesthe operations of the Compi's
consolidated subsidiaries attributable to unreléitéd party equity owners that were (deducted fyanided to net income to arrive at net
income attributable to the Company. Net (incomss lattributable to noncontrolling interests for thiee months ended July 31, 2014 and
2013 was $2.2 million and ($2.1) million, respeetiz Net (income) loss attributable to noncontralinterests for the nine months ended
July 31, 2014 and 2013 was $2.4 million and ($m8ljon, respectively.

NOTE 17— SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The following table summarizes the changes of Stders’ Equity from October 31, 2013 to July 3012 (Dollars in millions, shares in

thousands):
Capital Stock Treasury Stock Accumulated Other
Common Treasury Noncontrolling Shareholder¢
Retained Comprehensive
Shares  Amount Shares Amount Earnings interests Income (Loss) Equity
As of October 31, 2011 47,577 $129.2 29,26 $(131.() $1,443.¢ $ 114.¢  $ (159.0 $ 1,398.(
Net income 77.5 (2.9 75.1
Other comprehensive income
(loss):
- foreign currency translatic 0.2 (36.5) (36.2)
- Reclassification of cash flow
hedges to earnings, net of
income tax benefit of $0.2
million 0.5 0.t
- Unrealized loss on cash flow
hedges, net of immaterial
income tax expens (0.7 (0.7
- minimum pension liability
adjustment, net of income ta
benefit of $0.2 millior (0.5) (0.5
Comprehensive incon 38.¢
Noncontrolling interests, loan
conversion and othe 15.2 15.2
Dividends paic (73.9) (73.9)
Stock options exercise 68 1.€ (68) 0.1 1.7
Restricted stock executives and
directors 22 1.1 (22 0.1 1.2
Long-term incentive shares
issuec 56 2.8 (56) 0.1 3.C
As of July 31, 201¢ 47,727 $135.C 29,11¢ $(130.7) $1,447f $ 127.¢  $ (195.6) $ 1,384.

The following table provides the rollforward of ataulated other comprehensive income for the nineth®ended July 31, 2014 (Dollars in

millions):

Balance as of October 31, 2013
Other Comprehensive Loss Before
Reclassification:
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated Ott
Comprehensive Los
Curren-period Other Comprehensive Income (Lc
Balance as of July 31, 20:

Foreign
Currency
Translatiol

$ (63.9
(36.5)

Cash Flov
Minimum Pensior
Hedges Liability Adjustmen
$ (0.6 $ (95.7)
(0.2) (0.5)
0.5 —
04 0.t
$ (0.9 $ 95.¢

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensiy

Income (Loss

$  (159.0
$  (37.)
$  0Of

(36.6)
$  (195.9



The following table provides the rollforward of aaulated other comprehensive income for the nineth®ended July 31, 2013 (Dollars in
millions):

Accumulatec

Minimum Pensio Other
Foreign Cash Flov Comprehensiy
Currency Liability

Translatiol Hedges Adjustment Income (Loss

Balance as of October 31, 2012 $ (69.)) $ (0.9 $ (126.0) $  (196.0
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Before

Reclassification: (14.¢) (0.7 0.2 (14.9
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated Othe

Comprehensive Los — 0.4 — 0.4

Curren-period Other Comprehensive Income (Lc (14.6) 0.3 0.3 (14.9

Balance as of July 31, 20: $ (83.9) $ (0.6 $ (125.%) $ 210.0)

The components of accumulated other comprehensoggrie above are presented net of tax, as applicable

The following table provides amounts reclassifietl @ accumulated other comprehensive income f@mihe months ended July 31 (Dollars
in millions):

Location on Consolidatec

Details about Accumulated Other Ammount Reclassified from Accumulated
Comprehensive Income Componen Other Comprehensive Loss Statements of Income
2014 2013
Cash Flow Hedges $ 0.5 $ 0.4 Other expense, n
$ 0.5 $ 0.4 Net income

NOTE 18 — BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has five operating segments, whiclaggeegated into four reportable business segmRigil Industrial Packaging &
Services; Paper Packaging; Flexible Products &iSesyand Land Management.

Operations in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Segg segment involve the production and sale ad iiidustrial packaging products, such
as steel, fibre and plastic drums, rigid intermediaulk containers, closure systems for induspéakaging products, transit protection
products, water bottles and remanufactured anchdétoned industrial containers, and services, saaghontainer life cycle management,
blending, filling, logistics, warehousing and otlparckaging services. The Compasyigid industrial packaging products and servaxessolc
to customers in industries such as chemicals, paimi pigments, food and beverage, petroleum, iridusoatings, agricultural,
pharmaceutical and mineral, among others.

Operations in the Paper Packaging segment invblv@toduction and sale of containerboard, corrupsiteets, corrugated containers and
other corrugated products to customers in North dgae The Companyg corrugated container products are used to sleip direrse produc
as home appliances, small machinery, grocery ptedaatomotive components, books and furnitureyelsas numerous other applications.

Operations in the Flexible Products & Services sagirmvolve the production and sale of flexiblesimediate bulk containers and related
services on a global basis and the sale of multivasg products in North America. The Company’s it intermediate bulk containers are
constructed from a polypropylene-based woven fabatis produced at its fully integrated productsites, as well as sourced from strategic
regional suppliers. Flexible products are sold glyband service customers and market segmenttasitaithose in the Company’s Rigid
Industrial Packaging & Services segment. Additibnahe Company’s flexible products significantlypand its presence in the agricultural
and food industries, among others. The Companylswall bag products are used to ship a wide rasfgadustrial and consumer products,
such as seed, fertilizers, chemicals, concretar feugar, feed, pet foods, popcorn, charcoal atidmimarily for the agricultural, chemical,
building products and food industries.

Operations in the Land Management segment invbleartanagement and sale of timber and special openies from approximately
251,350 acres of timber properties in the soutleeadinited States, which are actively managed,18n@95 acres of timber properties in
Canada. Land Management’s operations focus onctiveedharvesting and regeneration of the Compabyited States timber properties to
achieve sustainable long-term yields. While timkmes are subject to fluctuations, the Companyssteinaintain a consistent cutting
schedule, within the limits of market and weathamditions. The Company also sells, from time toetitimberland and special use proper
which consists of surplus properties, HBU propsrttand development properties.
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In order to maximize the value of timber propethe Company continues to review its current padfahd explore the development of
certain of these properties in Canada and the UiSitates. This process has led the Company toatbawe property as follows:

»  Surplus property, meaning land that cannotffieiently or effectively managed by the Companyhether due to parcel size, lack
of productivity, location, access limitations or fither reason:

» HBU property, meaning land that in its currentestaas a higher market value for uses other thamiggoand selling timbe:

» Development property, meaning HBU land thathwidditional investment, may have a significahilyher market value than its
HBU market value

» Timberland, meaning land that is best suited fomgng and selling timbe|

The disposal of surplus and HBU property is repbitiethe consolidated statements of income undain“gn disposals of properties, plants,
equipment and businesses, net” and the sale ofapeaent property is reported under “net sales” ‘@uodt of products sold.” All HBU,
development and surplus property is used by thegaomto productively grow and sell timber untiléor herefore, when surplus and HBU
property is sold, operating profit could resuliaim amount higher than net sales.

Whether timberland has a higher value for usesrattza growing and selling timber is a determinatiased upon several variables, such as
proximity to population centers, anticipated pogiola growth in the area, the topography of the |a@bsthetic considerations, including
access to water, the condition of the surroundamgl| availability of utilities, markets for timband economic considerations both nationally
and locally. Given these considerations, the charaation of land is not a static process, butinezs an ongoing review and re-
characterization as circumstances change.

The Companys reportable business segments offer differentymisdand services. The accounting policies of ¢épetable business segme
are substantially the same as those describe@ ifBisis of Presentation and Summary of Signifigsettounting Policies” note in the 2013
Form 10-K.

The following segment information is presentedtf@ periods indicated (Dollars in millions):

Three months endec Nine months endec
July 31, July 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Net sales
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servici $ 827.7 $ 802.: $2,324.: $2,280.(
Paper Packagin 217.1 208.4 625.4 587.1
Flexible Products & Service 107.: 110.t 325.¢ 334.:
Land Managemer 8.4 8.€ 20.7 25.¢
Total net sale $1,161.. $1,129.° $3,296.: $3,227.:
Operating profit (loss):
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servic $ 41: $ 61.7 $ 119. $ 146.¢
Paper Packagin 27.¢ 30.7 84.4 84.1
Flexible Products & Service (12.9 — (22.9 1.4
Land Managemer 3.3 4.3 26.2 12.7
Total operating profi $ 59.€ $ 96.7 $ 207. $ 244.¢
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servici $ 26. $ 26.7 $ 83kt $ 80.2
Paper Packagin 7.3 7.3 22.¢ 227
Flexible Products & Service 3.3 4.C 10.7 11.2
Land Managemer 1.4 i1jg 3.C 3.8
Total depreciation, depletion and amortization egs $ 38k $ 39t $ 119.¢ $ 117.¢
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The following table presents net sales to exteznatomers by geographic area (Dollars in millions):

Three months endec Nine months endec
July 31, July 31,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Net sales:
North America $ 566.¢ $ 535.2 $1,601.¢ $1,524.¢
Europe, Middle East and Afric 429.1 426.5 1,219.¢ 1,210.¢
Asia Pacific and Latin Americ 165.2 168.( 474.¢ 492.(
Total net sale $1,161.; $1,129.° $3,296.: $3,227.:

The following table presents total assets by segm@ueth geographic area (Dollars in millions):

October 31
July 31,
2014 2013
Assets:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servic $2,482.t $ 2,441«
Paper Packagin 429.¢ 413.2
Flexible Products & Service 364.% 367.%
Land Managemer 318.F 280.7
Total segment 3,595.¢ 3,502.¢
Corporate and oth¢ 355.¢ 379.:
Total asset $3,951. $ 3,882.:
Assets:
North America $1,891.¢ $ 1,818.:
Europe, Middle East and Afric 1,506.t 1,517..
Asia Pacific and Latin Americ 553.( 546.€
Total asset $3,951.« $ 3,882.:

NOTE 19— SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On August 7, 2014, the Company entered into aneageat to sell a division of the Flexible Product$&rvices segment. Subject to final
adjustments, the purchase price for the sale dflithision is expected to be approximately $63 mili

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
GENERAL

The terms “Greif,” “our company,” “we,” “us” and to” as used in this discussion refer to Greif, laed its subsidiaries. Our fiscal year
begins on November 1 and ends on October 31 dbtloeving year. Any references in this Form 10-Qhe years 2014 or 2013, or to any
guarter of those years, relates to the fiscal geguarter, as the case may be, ended in that year.

The discussion and analysis presented below refatke material changes in financial condition aeslilts of operations for our consolida
balance sheets as of July 31, 2014 and Octob&03B, and for the consolidated statements of incimmthe three and nine months ended
July 31, 2014 and 2013. This discussion and arsafsuld be read in conjunction with the consoéiddinancial statements that appear
elsewhere in this Form 10-Q and “Management’s Bismn and Analysis of Financial Condition and Ressof Operations” included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year esh@xtober 31, 2013 (the “2013 Form 10-K"). Readeesencouraged to review the entire
2013 Form 10-K, as it includes information regagdidreif not discussed in this Form @-This information will assist in your understamgl
of the discussion of our current period financesults.

All statements, other than statements of histofets, included in this Form 10-Q, including withidimitation, statements regarding our
future financial position, business strategy, buslgerojected costs, goals, trends and plans ajedtokes of management for future
operations, are forward-looking statements withimmmeaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act@83, as amended, and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendawdrd-looking statements generally can be idemtibg the use
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of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will“expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “mject,” “believe,” “continue,” “on track”
or “target” or the negative thereof or variatiohereon or similar terminology. All forward-lookirggatements made in this Form 10-Q are
based on information currently available to managretmAlthough we believe that the expectationseméd in forward-looking statements
have a reasonable basis, we can give no assutatdbeése expectations will prove to be correctwiaod-looking statements are subject to
risks and uncertainties that could cause actualteva results to differ materially from those esgsed in or implied by the statements. Such
risks and uncertainties that might cause a diffegénclude, but are not limited to, the followir(:the current and future challenging global
economy may adversely affect our business, (itphisally, our business has been sensitive to chaggeneral economic or business
conditions, (iii) our operations are subject torency exchange and political risks that could askigraffect our results of operations, (iv) the
continuing consolidation of our customer base arpgpbers may intensify pricing pressure, (v) we m@pe in highly competitive industries,

(vi) our business is sensitive to changes in ingutmands, (vii) raw material and energy pricetilations and shortages may adversely
impact our manufacturing operations and costs) (wgé may encounter difficulties arising from acsjtions, (ix) we may incur additional
restructuring costs and there is no guaranteeotiragéfforts to reduce costs will be successfultéx)legislation initiatives or challenges to our
tax positions may adversely impact our financialuits or condition, (xi) several operations aredrarted by joint ventures that we cannot
operate solely for our benefit, (xii) our ability attract, develop and retain talented and qudléieployees, managers and executives is
critical to our success, (xiii) our business mayaleersely impacted by work stoppages and other laations matters, (xiv) we may be
subject to losses that might not be covered in bolin part by existing insurance reserves orranste coverage, (xv) our business depends
on the uninterrupted operations of our facilitgstems and business functions, including our m&dion technology and other business
systems, (xvi) legislation/regulation related tonelte change and environmental and health andysaf&tters and corporate social
responsibility could negatively impact our operati@nd financial performance, (xvii) product li#tlyiclaims and other legal proceedings
could adversely affect our operations and finanpéformance, (xviii) we may incur fines or pergstidamage to our reputation or other
adverse consequences if our employees, agentsimelss partners violate, or are alleged to haviateid, anti-bribery, competition or other
laws, (xix) changing climate conditions may advirsdfect our operations and financial performar(g®) the frequency and volume of our
timber and timberland sales will impact our finaigerformance, (xxi) changes in U.S. generallyepted accounting principles and SEC
rules and regulations could materially impact aparted results, and (xxii) if the company failsriaintain an effective system of internal
control, the company may not be able to accuratggrt financial results or prevent fraud. The sislescribed above are not all inclusive,
given these and other possible risks and uncegajritvestors should not place undue relianceoomdrd-looking statements as a prediction
of actual results. For a more detailed discussfah@most significant risks and uncertainties tmild cause our actual results to differ
materially from those projected, see “Risk FactansPart I, ltem 1A of our 2013 Form 10-K and other filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. All forward-looking statementxde in this Form 10-Q are expressly qualifieth&ir entirety by reference to such
risk factors. Except to the limited extent requitsdapplicable law, we undertake no obligation polate or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafigore events or otherwise.

” o ” o, ” ”ou

OVERVIEW
Business Segments

We operate in four business segments: Rigid Indiftackaging & Services; Paper Packaging; Flexsteducts & Services; and Land
Management.

We are a leading global producer of rigid indusipeckaging products, such as steel, fibre andipldsums, rigid intermediate bulk
containers, closure systems for industrial paclk@gioducts, transit protection products, waterlestand remanufactured and reconditioned
industrial containers, and services, such as aosttdife cycle management, blending, filling, lagis, warehousing and other packaging
services. We sell our industrial packaging prodacid services to customers in industries such asidals, paints and pigments, food and
beverage, petroleum, industrial coatings, agricalfypharmaceutical and mineral, among others.

We produce and sell containerboard, corrugatedslaeel other corrugated products to customers ithMgmerica in industries such as
packaging, automotive, food and building produ®tsr corrugated container products are used tosftgh diverse products as home
appliances, small machinery, grocery productsdingl products, automotive components, books andtfue, as well as numerous other
applications.

We are a leading global producer of flexible intediate bulk containers and related services andrthMmerican producer of industrial and
consumer multiwall bag products. Our flexible imwediate bulk containers consist of a polypropylbased woven fabric that is produced at
our fully integrated production sites, as well asrsed from strategic regional suppliers. Our fiiproducts are sold globally and service
customers and market segments similar to thoseriRmid Industrial Packaging & Services
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segment. Additionally, our flexible products sidcétly expand our presence in the agricultural fmod industries, among others. Our
industrial and consumer multiwall bag productswused to ship a wide range of industrial and consyraducts, such as seed, fertilizers,
chemicals, concrete, flour, sugar, feed, pet fopdpcorn, charcoal and salt, primarily for the agftural, chemical, building products and
food industries.

As of July 31, 2014, we owned approximately 251,88fs of timber properties in the southeastermedritates, which are actively
managed, and approximately 10,295 acres of timimgrgpties in Canada, which are not actively mana@en Land Management team is
focused on the active harvesting and regenerafionmoUnited States timber properties to achievaanable long-term yields. While timber
sales are subject to fluctuations, we seek to miairat consistent cutting schedule, within the knaift market and weather conditions. We also
sell, from time to time, timberland and special psgperties, which consist of surplus propertiégghér and better use (“HBU”) properties,
and development properties.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiaind results of operations are based upon msadiolated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with accountingipies generally accepted in the United Stat€&AAP”). The preparation of these
consolidated financial statements, in accordantle thiese principles, require us to make estimatdsaasumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets and liabilities, revenues andresgse and related disclosure of contingent asadttiabilities as of the date of our
consolidated financial statements.

Our significant accounting policies are discusseBart I, ltem 7 — Management’s Discussion andlysia of Financial Condition and
Results of Operation of the 2013 Form 10-K. Weéhalithat the consistent application of these pedieinables us to provide readers of the
consolidated financial statements with useful aidiole information about our results of operatians financial condition.

Other items that could have a significant impactt@nfinancial statements include the risks ancettamties listed in Part [, Item 1A—Risk
Factors, of the 2013 Form 10-K. Actual results datiffer materially using different estimates asdwmptions, or if conditions are
significantly different in the future.

Trends

The slow motion global economic recovery is anttdal to continue during the remainder of fiscal£0#&sulting in moderate sales volume
improvement and slightly higher raw material castsertain regions. The Rigid Industrial Packagsegment is anticipated to benefit from
moderate volume growth, especially in Europe, areif@usiness System cost savings. In additioméoannounced closure of our facility in
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, additional specifitiaes will be implemented in the Flexible Produs¢égment during the remainder of 2014
as this business is repositioned for sustainalme/tiyrand profitability. During the third quarterevgold a business in the Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Service segment and will continue tspe the sale of select non-core assets and mlats¢lerate restructuring actions.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following comparative information is presentedthe three and nine month periods ended July®814 and 2013. Historically, revenues
and earnings may or may not be representativetofdwperating results attributable to various ecoic and other factors.

The non-GAAP financial measure of EBITDA is userbtlghout the following discussion of our result©opérations. EBITDA is defined as
net income, plus interest expense, net, plus indamexpense, less equity earnings of unconsotidaffdiates, net of tax, plus depreciation,
depletion and amortization. Since we do not cateutet income by segment, EBITDA by segment ismeibed to operating profit by

Third Quarter Results

The following table sets forth the net sales, ofegaprofit (loss) and EBITDA* for each of our buasiss segments for the three month periods
ended July 31, 2014 and 2013 (Dollars in millions):
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Three months endec

July 31,
2014 2013
Net sales:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servici $ 827.% $ 802.
Paper Packagin 217.1 208.¢
Flexible Products & Service 107.% 110.t
Land Managemer 8.4 8.€
Total net sale $1,161.: $1,129.
Operating profit (loss):
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servici $ 41z $ 617
Paper Packagin 27.¢ 30.7
Flexible Products & Service (12.9 —
Land Managemer 3.3 4.3
Total operating profi $ 59.6 $ 96.7
EBITDA*:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servic $ 67.€ $ 86.2
Paper Packagin 35.2 38.C
Flexible Products & Service (10.5 2.1
Land Managemer 4.7 5.8
Total EBITDA $ 97.C $ 132.:

* EBITDA is defined as net income, plus interespexse, net, plus income tax expense, less equitynga of unconsolidated affiliates,
net of tax, plus depreciation, depletion and arnation.

The following table sets forth EBITDA*, reconciléd net income and operating profit, for our cordatéd results for the three month periods
ended July 31, 2014 and 2013 (Dollars in millions):

For the three months ended July 3: 2014 2013
Net income $10.C $ 48.¢
Plus: interest expense, r 20.7 19.2
Plus: income tax expen 28.2 25.¢
Plus: depreciation, depletion and amortization esp 38.¢ 39.t
Less: equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliatest, of tax 0.7 1.2
EBITDA* $97.C $132.2
Net income $10.C $ 48.¢
Plus: interest expense, r 20.7 19.2
Plus: income tax expen 28.2 25.¢
Plus: other expense, r 14 4.C
Less: equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliatest, of tax 0.7 1.2
Operating profit 59.¢ 96.7
Less: other expense, r 14 4.C
Plus: depreciation, depletion and amortization esp 38.¢ 39.5
EBITDA* $97.C $132.2

* EBITDA is defined as net income, plus interespemxse, net, plus income tax expense, less equitynga of unconsolidated affiliates,
net of tax, plus depreciation, depletion and armation.
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The following table sets forth EBITDA* for our bugiss segments, reconciled to the operating pto§is) for each segment, for the three
month periods ended July 31, 2014 and 2013 (Daltansillions):

For the three months ended July 3: 2014 2013

Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services

Operating profi $41.c $ 61.7
Less: other (income) expense, 0.t 2.1
Plus: depreciation and amortization expe 26.€ 26.7

EBITDA* 67.€ 86.2

Paper Packaging

Operating profit $27.¢ $ 30.7
Plus: depreciation and amortization expe 7.2 7.2

EBITDA* 35.2 38.C

Flexible Products & Services

Operating profit (loss $(129 $ —
Less: other expense, r 0.€ 1.¢
Plus: depreciation and amortization expe 3.3 4.C

EBITDA* (10.5) 2.1

Land Management

Operating profit $ 3.2 $ 452
Plus: depreciation, depletion and amortization esp 1.4 iz

EBITDA* $ 4.7 $ 5¢

Consolidated EBITD/ $97.C $132.2

* EBITDA is defined as net income, plus interespemxse, net, plus income tax expense, less equitynga of unconsolidated affiliates,
net of tax, plus depreciation, depletion and amatidon. However, because we do not calculate menie by segment, this table
calculates EBITDA as operating profit, less othquense, plus depreciation, depletion and amortinads shown in the tables preceding
this one.

Net Sales

Net sales were $1,161.1 million for the third gaadf 2014 compared with $1,129.7 million for thed quarter of 2013. The 2.8 perc:
increase in net sales was primarily due to the anhpha 3.0 percent increase in selling pricesigifyrtoffset by a negative 0.2 percent impact
from foreign currency translation. The higher sgjlprices were consistent across our Rigid Incaldfackaging & Services, Flexible
Products & Services and Paper Packaging segmeltiteu§h consolidated volumes remained flat, voluineseased 3.3 percent in Europe
and 4.3 percent in North America and decreaseg&.@nt in Latin America within the Rigid IndustriRackaging & Services segment and
decreased 8.3 percent within the Flexible Prod&icsgrvices segment compared to a year ago.

Operating Costs

Gross profit was $216.3 million for the third quarof 2014 compared with $217.3 million for therthguarter of 2013. Improvements in the
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services and PapekBging segments were offset by declines in theiBleXroducts & Services and Land
Management segments. Gross profit margin was 1&8d@ept for the third quarter of 2014 compared t@ J@&rcent for the third quarter of
2013.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expeasncreased 9.5 percent to $129.4 million fortlel quarter of 2014 from $118.2
million for the third quarter of 2013 primarily dte higher amortization expenses related to intalegissets, higher professional fees,
increased bad debt expense in the Paper Packagintest and further scalable business platform esgerSG&A expenses were
11.1 percent of net sales for the third quartet@#f4 compared with 10.5 percent of net sales ®third quarter of 2013.
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Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges were $4.2 million for thedhjuarter of 2014 compared with $1.9 million foe tthird quarter of 2013. Current year
charges were primarily related to employee separatbsts in the Flexible Products & Services argidRindustrial Packaging & Services
segments.

Asset Impairment Charges

During the three months ended July 31, 2014 an@,206& Company recognized asset impairment chafggs5.4 million and 2.3 million,
respectively. Theseharges included $4.3 million and $2.3 million wigiairment charges related to restructuring plamsduhe three montt
ended July 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Timberland gains
For the three months ended July 31, 2014 and 28r8 tvere no sales of timberland.

Acquisition-Related Costs
Acquisition-related costs were $0.4 million for tinird quarter of 2014 and $0.1 million for therthguarter of 2013.

Gain on Disposal of Properties, Plants, Equipmentrad Businesses, net

The gain (loss) on disposal of properties, plagggsipment and businesses, net, was ($7.7) milbotthie third quarter 2014 mostly related
$9.1 million non-cash loss on the sale of a busimesnpared to $1.8 million for the same period0a2

Operating Profit

Operating profit was $59.6 million for the thirdayter of 2014 compared with $96.7 million for théd quarter of 2013. The $37.1 million
decrease consisted of a $20.4 million decreadeeiiigid Industrial Packaging & Services segme®l 29 million decrease in the Flexible
Products & Services segment, a $2.8 million deer@ashe Paper Packaging segment, and a $1.0 mdkerease in the Land Management
segment. Factors contributing to the $37.1 milliecrease were $15.4 million of asset impairmentggg a $9.1 million nonash loss on tf
sale of a business resulting from the allocatiosegfiment level goodwill to this business, a $2.[aniincrease in restructuring charges and
the $11.2 million increase in the SG&A expensesutised above, partially offset by a slight gaimfithe increase in selling prices discussed
above.

EBITDA

EBITDA was $97.0 million for the third quarter o824 compared with $132.2 million for the third gearof 2013. The $35.2 million
decrease was primarily due to the factors prevjodsscribed that impacted operating profit. De@#en, depletion and amortization expe
was $38.8 million for the third quarter of 2014 qmamed with $39.5 million for the third quarter di13.

Segment Review
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services

Our Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segmdfere a comprehensive line of rigid industrial paging products, such as steel, fibre and
plastic drums, rigid intermediate bulk containetesure systems for industrial packaging produetder bottles and remanufactured and
reconditioned industrial containers, and servisash as container life cycle management, blendiiimyg, logistics, warehousing and other
packaging services. Key factors influencing prdiiity in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servicesgment are:

» Selling prices, customer demand and sales volu

« Raw material costs, primarily steel, resin and amrboard and used industrial packaging for reitimmihg;
* Energy and transportation cos

» Benefits from executing the Greif Business Syst

» Restructuring charge
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» Contributions from acquisition:
» Divestiture of facilities; an

» Impact of foreign currency translatic

Net sales increased 3.2 percent to $827.7 milloritfe third quarter of 2014 compared with $802ilien for the third quarter of 2013. Tt
increase in net sales was attributable to prodixtvolume improvements in Europe and North Amerighich were partially offset by
volume decreases in Latin America and Asia Padaint] a 3.0 percent increase in selling prices, vinvas partially attributable to the
contractual pass-through of higher resin costs.ifftpact of foreign currency translation was a niegad.6 percent compared with the third
quarter of 2013.

Gross profit was $152.4 million for the third quarof 2014 compared with $149.5 million for therthguarter of 2013. The increase in gross
profit was due to product mix and higher sellingces. Gross profit margin decreased slightly tal X&rcent for the third quarter of 2014 fi
18.6 percent for the third quarter of 2013 dueitthér costs.

Operating profit was $41.3 million for the thirdayter of 2014 compared with $61.7 million for théd quarter of 2013. The $20.4 million
decrease from the third quarter of 2013 was dw@ze$8.1 million non-cash loss on the sale of a lassipincreases in SG&A expenses of $6.0
million primarily due to higher amortization expesselated to intangible assets, increases in mspairment charges of $5.3 million,
increases in restructuring costs of $1.1 milliamd &igher professional fees.

EBITDA was $67.6 million for the third quarter 0824 compared with $86.3 million for the third quarof 2013. This decrease was due to
the same factors that impacted the decrease imtpgprofit. Depreciation, depletion and amortizatexpense was $26.8 million for the
third quarter of 2014 compared with $26.7 milliam the third quarter of 2013.

Paper Packaging

Our Paper Packaging segment produces and sellgiceriioard, corrugated sheets and corrugated censain North America. Key factors
influencing profitability in the Paper Packagingsent are:

» Selling prices, customer demand and sales volu
» Raw material costs, primarily old corrugated camtes;
* Energy and transportation costs; ¢
» Benefits from executing the Greif Business Syst
Net sales increased 4.5 percent to $217.7 milboritfe third quarter of 2014 compared with $208idion for the third quarter of 2013. Tt

increase was attributable to higher selling prigadially realized as a result of the pass-throofgh previous containerboard price increase
and increasing sales of specialty products, asageihcreased volumes in certain products.

Gross profit was $44.7 million for the third quarté 2014 compared with $44.1 million for the thiydarter of 2013 as a result of the same
factors that impacted the segment’s net salestdffshigher transportation costs. Gross profit nradgcreased to 20.5 percent for the third
quarter of 2014 from 21.2 percent for the thirdrtgraof 2013.

Operating profit was $27.9 million for the thirdayter of 2014 compared with $30.7 million for thé&d quarter of 2013. The decrease was
due to increased bad debt expense which was padfédet by the same factors that impacted grosfitmescribed above.

EBITDA was $35.2 million for the third quarter o024 compared with $38.0 million for the third quarof 2013. This decrease was due to
the same factors that impacted the segment’s dopgnaitofit. Depreciation, depletion and amortizatexpense was $7.3 million for the third
quarter of 2014 and the third quarter of 2013.
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Flexible Products & Services

Our Flexible Products & Services segment offersrafrehensive line of flexible products, such azifie intermediate bulk containers and
multiwall bags. Key factors influencing profitalbliin the Flexible Products & Services segment are:

e Selling prices, customer demand and sales volu

* Raw material costs, primarily resin and containarde¢
* Energy and transportation cos

» Benefits from executing the Greif Business Syst

» Restructuring charges; a

» Impact of foreign currency translatic

Net sales decreased 2.9 percent to $107.3 milliothe third quarter of 2014 compared with $110illion for the third quarter of 2013. Tt
decrease in net sales was attributable to volurogedses of 8.3 percent due to the lost sales ddlatine continuing impact of the occupation
of our manufacturing facility in Turkey during teecond quarter of 2014 and product mix offset ligepncreases of 3.4 percent. The impact
of foreign currency translation for the third queardf 2014 was a positive 1.9 percent compared thitthird quarter of 2013.

Gross profit was $15.4 million for the third quarté 2014 compared with $19.4 million for the thigdarter of 2013. The decrease in gross
profit was primarily due to the continuing impaétloe occupation of our manufacturing facility imrkey, during the second quarter of 2014,
which has resulted in higher costs incurred to &tidrnative supply sources to satisfy customeres&profit margin decreased to 14.4
percent for the third quarter of 2014 from 17.6ceet for the third quarter of 2013.

Operating loss was $12.9 million for the third deaof 2014 compared with nominal operating priafitthe third quarter of 2013 due to the
factors that impacted the segment’s gross margitudsed above as well as increases in restructtostg of $1.2 million and in asset
impairment charges of $7.8 million

EBITDA was negative $10.5 million for the third qtex of 2014 compared with $2.1 million for therthguarter of 2013. This decrease was
due to the same factors that impacted the segmame’sating profit (loss). Depreciation, depletiord @mortization expense was $3.3 million
for the third quarter of 2014 compared with $4.0ion for the third quarter of 2013.

Land Management

As of July 31, 2014, our Land Management segmemsisted of approximately 251,350 acres of timbepprties in the southeastern United
States, which are actively harvested and regerntkratel approximately 10,295 acres in Canada. Ketpifa influencing profitability in the
Land Management segment are:

* Planned level of timber sale
» Selling prices and customer dema
» Gains (losses) on sale of timberland,;

» Gains on the disposal of special use propertiapl{ss; HBU and development propertie

Net sales decreased 2.3 percent to $8.4 milliothithird quarter of 2014 compared with $8.6 midlfor the third quarter of 2013. T
decrease was due to lower planned sales of timitéeithird quarter of 2014.

Operating profit decreased to $3.3 million for thied quarter of 2014 from $4.3 million for the ithiquarter of 2013. Special use property
disposals included in operating profit were $0.8iam for the third quarter of 2014 compared with.4 million for the third quarter of 2013.
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EBITDA was $4.7 million for the third quarter of 20 compared with $5.8 million for the third quartér2013. This decrease was primarily
due to the same factors that impacted the segmapeisating profit. Depreciation, depletion and atiaation expense was $1.4 million for the
third quarter of 2014 compared with $1.5 milliom fbe third quarter of 2013.

In order to maximize the value of our timber prdpgwe continue to review our current portfolio agxplore the development of certain of
these properties in Canada and the United Staleés pfocess has led us to characterize our propsrtgllows:

e Surplus property, meaning land that cannotffieiently or effectively managed by us, whetheedo parcel size, lack of
productivity, location, access limitations or faher reasons

« HBU property, meaning land that in its currentestads a higher market value for uses other thamiggoand selling timbe!

» Development property, meaning HBU land thathwidditional investment, may have a significahilyher market value than its
HBU market value

» Timberland, meaning land that is best suited fomgng and selling timbe|

We report the disposal of surplus and HBU propertyur consolidated statements of income undent‘gaidisposals of properties, plants,
equipment and businesses, net” and report theosdievelopment property under “net sales” and “cdgiroducts sold.” All HBU,
development and surplus property is used by usadyztively grow and sell timber until sold.

Whether timberland has a higher value for usesratfza growing and selling timber is a determinatiased upon several variables, such as
proximity to population centers, anticipated pogiola growth in the area, the topography of the |arabthetic considerations, including
access to water, the condition of the surroundamgl| availability of utilities, markets for timband economic considerations both nationally
and locally. Given these considerations, the charaation of land is not a static process, butines an ongoing review and re-
characterization as circumstances change.

As of July 31, 2014, we estimated that there wppraximately 36,650 acres in Canada and the UiStates of special use property, which
we expect will be available for sale in the nexefto seven years.

Other Income Statement Changes
Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net, was $20.7 million for thedtquarter of 2014 compared with $19.2 million fbe third quarter of 2013. The slight
increase was a result of higher average debt awlistg primarily resulting from two acquisitions cplated in the first quarter of 2014 offset
by lower average interest rates due to refinanaityities in certain countries.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense was $28.2 million for the tljudrter of 2014 compared with $25.9 million for thed quarter of 2013. Our effective t
rate was 75.2 percent for the third quarter of 20d4us 35.2 percent for the third quarter of 2% higher third quarter 2014 effective tax
rate reflects the impact of the following: a sliifiglobal earnings mix to countries with higher takes; the tax effect of a non-cash loss from
the sale of a business; the forecasted tax effec$@1.5 million allocation of goodwill reducinje book gain on a planned sale of an asset
group within the Flexible Products & Services seghotassified as held for sale; and the impact $8.& million discrete tax expense. The
discrete tax expense is a net amount mainly cangisf a $7.0 million expense related to the inseeim valuation allowances for internatio
subsidiaries and a benefit of $3.0 million relatedhe return to provision adjustments for inteiorzel subsidiaries.

Equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax

We recorded $0.7 million of equity earnings of umealidated affiliates, net of tax, during the thipdarter 2014 compared to $1.2 million for
the same period 2013.

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests for the third quarters of 2014 and 201322 million and ($2.1) millior
respectively.
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Net income attributable to Greif, Inc.

Based on the factors noted above, net income watiéfitle to Greif, Inc. was $12.2 million for therthguarter of 2014 compared to $46.7
million for the third quarter of 2013.

Year-to-Date Results

The following table sets forth the net sales, ofegaprofit (loss) and EBITDA* for each of our busiss segments for the nine month periods
ended July 31, 2014 and 2013 (Dollars in millions):

Nine months endec

July 31,
2014 2013
Net sales:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servici $2,324. $2,280.(
Paper Packagin 625.4 587.1
Flexible Products & Service 325.¢ 334.:
Land Managemer 20.7 25.¢
Total net sale $3,296.: $3,227.:
Operating profit (loss):
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servici $ 119. $ 146.
Paper Packagin 84.£ 84.1
Flexible Products & Service (22.9) 1.4
Land Managemer 26.2 12.7
Total operating profi $ 207.¢ $ 244.¢
EBITDA*:
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servici $ 197.¢ $ 221¢
Paper Packagin 107.C 107.C
Flexible Products & Service (14.9) 9.3
Land Managemer 29.2 16.5
Total EBITDA $ 319.7 $ 354.¢

* EBITDA is defined as net income, plus interespexse, net, plus income tax expense, less equitynga of unconsolidated affiliates,
net of tax, plus depreciation, depletion and arnation.
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The following table sets forth EBITDA*, reconciléd net income and operating profit, for our congaied results for the nine month periods

ended July 31, 2014 and 2013 (Dollars in millions):

For the nine months ended July 3: 2014 2013
Net income $ 75.1 $116.(
Plus: interest expense, r 61.t 63.5
Plus: income tax expen 64.2 58.7
Plus: depreciation, depletion and amortization esp 119.¢ 117.¢
Less: equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliatest, of tax 0.¢ iz
EBITDA* $319.7 $354.¢
Net income $ 75.1 $116.(
Plus: interest expense, r 61.t 63.5
Plus: income tax expen 64.2 58.7
Plus: other expense, r 7.5 7.¢
Less: equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliatest, of tax 0.6 iz
Operating profit 207.¢ 244.¢
Less: other expense, r 7.5 7.€
Plus: depreciation, depletion and amortization esp 119.¢ 117.¢
EBITDA* $319.7 $354.¢

* EBITDA is defined as net income, plus interespemxse, net, plus income tax expense, less equitynga of unconsolidated affiliates,
net of tax, plus depreciation, depletion and amation.

The following table sets forth EBITDA* for our bugiss segments, reconciled to the operating pto§is) for each segment, for the nine
month periods ended July 31, 2014 and 2013 (Daltansillions):

For the nine months ended July 3: 2014 2013

Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services

Operating profi $119.2 $146.¢
Less: other (income) expense, 4.¢ 4.€
Plus: depreciation and amortization expe 83.t 80.2

EBITDA* 197.¢ 221.¢

Paper Packaging

Operating profit $ 84.4 $ 84.1
Less: other (income) expense, — (0.2
Plus: depreciation and amortization expe 22.€ 22.i

EBITDA* 107.( 107.(

Flexible Products & Services

Operating profit (loss $(22.9 $ 14
Less: other (income) expense, 2.€ 38
Plus: depreciation and amortization expe 10.7 11.2

EBITDA* (14.9) 9.8

Land Management

Operating profi $ 26.2 $ 12.7
Plus: depreciation, depletion and amortization esp 3.C 3.€

EBITDA* $ 29.2 $ 16.5

Consolidated EBITD/ $319.5 $354.¢

* EBITDA is defined as net income, plus interespemxse, net, plus income tax expense, less equitynga of unconsolidated affiliates,
net of tax, plus depreciation, depletion and amatidon. However, because we do not calculate menie by segment, this table
calculates EBITDA as operating profit, less othquense, plus depreciation, depletion and amortinads shown in the tables preceding
this one.
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Net Sales

Net sales were $3,296.2 million for the first nmenths of 2014 compared with $3,227.2 million toe first nine months of 2013. The :
percent increase in net sales was primarily dubdompact of a 3.3 percent increase in sellinggsripartially offset by a negative 0.8 percent
impact from foreign currency translation. Sellingecps for rigid industrial packaging products irecsed in North America and Latin America
primarily as a result of the pass-through of higtaev material costs. Selling prices for paper pgakg products were higher due to a
containerboard price increase that was realizedenhird quarter of 2013. Consolidated volumesenat compared with the first nine
months of 2013.

Operating Costs

Gross profit increased to $607.1 million for thesfinine months of 2014 from $606.6 million for first nine months of 2013. Improvements
in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services angé&tePackaging segments were offset by declinegeikilife Products & Services and Land
Management segments. Gross profit was 18.4 peofewt sales for the first nine months of 2014 uer$8.8 percent of net sales for the first
nine months of 2013.

SG&A expenses increased 7.0 percent to $386.3omifbr the first nine months of 2014 from $360.9liom for the first nine months of 2013
primarily related to higher professional fees aighlr amortization costs of intangible assets. SG&fenses were 11.7 percent of net sales
for the first nine months of 2014 compared withllfiercent of net sales for the first nine month2Q3.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges were $10.5 million for thistfnine months of 2014 and were primarily relatedmployee separation costs in the
Flexible Products & Services segment and footpetibnalization efforts in our Rigid Industrial Ragjing & Services segment. For the first
nine months of 2013, restructuring charges of $2llfon were primarily related to footprint ratiolieation efforts in our Asia Pacific
operations in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Segg segment.

Asset Impairment Charges

During the nine months ended July 31, 2014 and 2BE3Company recognized asset impairment charfggsso6 million and 4.5 million,
respectively. These charges included $4.5 millioch 2.7 million of impairment charges related tstmecturing plans during the nine months
ended July 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Timberland gains

For the nine months ended July 31, 2014, we recoadgain of $16.9 million relating to the saleiaitterland. For the nine months ended
July 31, 2013, there were no sales of timberland.

Acquisition-Related Costs

Acquisition-related costs were $1.2 million and#illion for the first nine months of 2014 and 30tespectively. For the first nine months
of 2014, these costs included $0.8 million of asdigin related costs and $0.4 million of acquisitintegration costs attributable to
acquisitions completed during 2014. First nine rherdf 2013 acquisition-related costs included $@ilBon of acquisition-related costs and
$0.4 million of post-acquisition integration costfributable to acquisitions completed during 2011.

(Gain) loss on Disposal of Properties, Plants, Equinent and Businesses, net

The (gain) loss on disposal of properties, plaaqsipment and businesses, net, decreased to $ichrfor the first nine months 2014
compared to ($6.1) million for the same period @12 due to a loss on a divestiture in our Rigidustdal Packaging segment during the third
quarter of 2014.
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Operating Profit

Operating profit was $207.4 million for the firsghe months of 2014 compared with $244.6 milliontfoe first nine months of 2013. The
$37.2 million decrease consisted of $23.8 milli@er@ase in Flexible Products & Services, a $27IBomidecrease in Rigid Industrial
Packaging & Services, partially offset by $13.5limil increase in Land Management and a $0.3 miilmnease in Paper Packaging.

EBITDA

EBITDA was $319.7 million for the first nine montb§2014 compared with $354.6 million for the firshe months of 2013. The $34.9
million decrease was primarily due to non-cashtaaggairment charges in the Rigid Industrial Padkggk Services segment and the
Flexible Products & Services segment as well astiverse impact of the prolonged occupation oéxilile products manufacturing facility.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense $44.9.8 million for the first nine months of 20d@mpared with $117.9 million for the
same period in 2013.

Segment Review
Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services

Our Rigid Industrial Packaging & Services segmdfere a comprehensive line of rigid industrial pagkg products, such as steel, fibre and
plastic drums, rigid intermediate bulk containetesure systems for industrial packaging produetder bottles and remanufactured and
reconditioned industrial containers, and servisash as container life cycle management, blendiimyg, logistics, warehousing and other
packaging services. Key factors influencing prdiifity in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servicesgment are:

» Selling prices, customer demand and sales volu
« Raw material costs, primarily steel, resin and amrboard and used industrial packaging for reitimmihg;
* Energy and transportation cos
» Benefits from executing the Greif Business Syst
» Restructuring charge
» Contributions from acquisition:
» Divestiture of facilities; ani
» Impact of foreign currency translatic
Net sales were $2,324.3 million for the first nmenths of 2014 compared with $2,280.0 million toe first nine months of 2013. Selli

prices increased 3.6 percent primarily from thesghsough of higher resin costs to customers amaa@bs in product mix. The impact of
foreign currency translation was a negative 1.2¢mrcompared with the first nine months of 2013.

Gross profit was $416.0 million for the first nimonths of 2014 compared with $405.9 million for finst nine months of 2013. Gross profit
margin increased to 17.9 percent for the first mmanths of 2014 from 17.8 percent for the firsteninonths of 2013. The increase was
primarily the result of lower steel input pricesdgaroduct mix.

Operating profit was $119.2 million for the firshe months of 2014 compared with $146.4 milliontfoz first nine months of 2013. The
$27.2 million decrease was due to slightly loweluntes, higher than planned selling, general andridtrative costs, and a non-cash loss on
the sale of a business.

Restructuring charges for the first nine month2@t4 were $5.8 million primarily related to the solidation of certain Europe, Asia Pacific
and Latin America operations. Restructuring chafgeghe first nine months of 2013 were $2.1 miiliprimarily related to the rationalization
of operations and capacity and Life Cycle Servingsgration. Acquisition related costs were $1.8iam and $0.7 million for the first nine
months of 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Asset impairment charges were $7.7 million forfilg nine months of 2014 compared with $2.8 miilior the first nine months of 2013.
These charges included $1.6 million and $2.6 nmilidd impairment charges related to restructurirapplduring the nine months ended
July 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

EBITDA was $197.8 million for the first nine montb§2014 compared with $221.8 million for the firshe months of 2013 due to the same
factors that impacted the segment’s operating pd@preciation, depletion and amortization expemas $83.5 million for the first nine
months of 2014 compared with $80.2 million for Hzene period in 2013.

Paper Packaging

Our Paper Packaging segment sells containerboamdigated sheets and corrugated containers in Martérica. Key factors influencing
profitability in the Paper Packaging segment are:

» Selling prices, customer demand and sales volu
» Raw material costs, primarily old corrugated camtes;
* Energy and transportation costs; ¢
» Benefits from executing the Greif Business Sysi
Net sales were $625.4 million for the first ninenttes of 2014 compared with $587.1 million for tivstfnine months of 2013. Selling pric

increased 5.2 percent due to a containerboard imicease realized in the third quarter of 2013luxes improved 1.3 percent in the first r
months of 2014 compared to the same period last yea

Gross profit increased 3.5 percent to $131.0 mmilfir the first nine months of 2014 from $126.5lioi for the first nine months of 2013.
Gross profit margin decreased to 20.9 percenti@ffitst nine months of 2014 from 21.6 percenttffi@r first nine months of 2013. The
decrease in gross profit margin was primarily dubigher energy, input and logistics costs assediaiith adverse weather related conditions
partly offset by higher selling prices.

Operating profit increased to $84.4 million for fivst nine months of 2014 compared with $84.1 imillfor the first nine months of 2013, ¢
to higher selling prices and volumes partially effey higher energy, input and logistics costs @iased with adverse weather related
conditions.

There were no asset impairment charges for thierfine months of 2014 compared with $1.6 millionthe first nine months of 2013.

EBITDA was $107.0 million for the first nine montb§2014 and for the first nine months of 2013 thuéhe same factors that impacted the
segment’s operating profit. Depreciation, depletiad amortization expense was $22.6 million andZa#gllion for the first nine months of
2014 and 2013, respectively.

Flexible Products & Services

Our Flexible Products & Services segment offersrafrehensive line of flexible products, such azifike intermediate bulk containers and
multiwall bags. Key factors influencing profitalbliin the Flexible Products & Services segment are:

» Selling prices, customer demand and sales volu

* Raw material costs, primarily resin and containar¢
* Energy and transportation cos

» Benefits from executing the Greif Business Syst

» Restructuring charges; a

» Impact of foreign currency translatic
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Net sales were $325.8 million for the first ninentits of 2014 compared with $334.3 million for tistfnine months of 2013. The decre
in net sales was attributable to volume decreasg2@ercent and selling price decreases of Ordepe. The impact of foreign currency
translation was a positive 1.1 percent comparel thi¢ first nine months of 2013.

Gross profit was $51.9 million for the first ninenths of 2014 compared with $60.9 million for tivstfnine months of 2013. Gross profit
margin decreased to 15.9 percent for the first mnaths of 2014 from 18.2 percent for the firsteninonths of 2013 primarily due to the
occupation of a manufacturing facility in Turkey et resulted in higher costs incurred to find aiggive supply sources to satisfy customers
and idle facility costs.

Operating loss was $22.4 million for the first nmenths of 2014 compared with an operating prdfh4 million for the first nine months
of 2013 due to incremental security costs for derfzcilities, additional costs to service customend non-cash asset impairment charges.

Restructuring charges for the first nine month2@t4 were $4.7 million primarily related to the opation of a manufacturing facility in
Turkey. There were $0.6 million of restructuringaahes for the first nine months of 2013.

Asset impairment charges were $7.9 million forfihgt nine months of 2014 compared with $0.1 milli@r the first nine months of 2013.
These charges included $2.9 million and $0.1 nmildd impairment charges related to restructuriramplduring the nine months ended
July 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

EBITDA was ($14.3) million for the first nine morgtof 2014 compared with $9.3 million for the firshe months of 2013 due to the same
factors that impacted the segment’s operating Depreciation, depletion and amortization expenae $10.7 and $11.2 million for the first
nine months of 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Land Management

As of July 31, 2014, our Land Management segmemsisted of approximately 251,350 acres of timbepprties in the southeastern United
States, which are actively harvested and regernttratel approximately 10,295 acres in Canada. Ketpifa influencing profitability in the
Land Management segment are:

* Planned level of timber sale
» Selling prices and customer dema
» Gains (losses) on sale of timberland,;

» Gains on the disposal of special use propertiapi{ss; HBU and development propertie

Net sales were $20.7 million for the first nine rtienof 2014 compared with $25.8 million for thestinine months of 2013. The $5.1 milli
decrease was due to lower planned sales of timitéeifirst nine months of 2014.

Operating profit increased to $26.2 million for first nine months of 2014 from $12.7 million fdwet first nine months of 2013 primarily due
to a $16.9 million gain on the disposal of timbedan the second, third and fourth phases of amcapately $90 million multi-phase sales
contract. We anticipate closing the final phasthisf contract by the first quarter of 2015 andreate a gain of approximately $22 to $24
million on that sale. Special use property disppgatiuded in operating profit were $3.2 milliorr the first nine months of 2014 compared
with $1.2 million for the first nine months of 2013

EBITDA was $29.2 million for the first nine montb§2014 compared with $16.5 million for the firshe months of 2013 due to the same
factors that impacted the segment’s operating pi@8preciation, depletion and amortization expemas $3.0 million and $3.8 million for
the first nine months of 2014 and 2013, respedtivel

As of July 31, 2014, we estimated that there wppraimately 36,650 acres in Canada and the UiStates of special use property, which
we expect will be available for sale in the nexefto seven years.
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Other Income Statement Changes
Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net, was $61.5 million for thet fiine months of 2014 compared with $62.2 milfionthe first nine months of 2013. The
decrease was a result of lower average interest tate to refinancing activities in certain cowggmffset by higher average debt outstanding
primarily resulting from two acquisitions completiedthe first nine months of 2014.

Debt extinguishment charges

There were no debt extinguishment charges foriteerfine months of 2014 compared with $1.3 millfonthe first nine months of 2013. T
2013 debt extinguishment charges related to amgradid restating our previous senior secured cfadility in the first quarter of 2013.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense was $64.2 million for the fiisie months of 2014 compared with $58.7 millionttog first nine months of 2013. Our
effective tax rate was 46.4 percent for the filsermonths of 2014 compared with 33.9 percentHerfirst nine months of 2013. The higher
2014 effective tax rate reflects the impact of mi@dtuctible asset impairment charges and non-caskdmn sales of businesses as well as a
shift in global earnings mix to countries with héghiax rates.

Equity earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, net of tax

We recorded $0.9 million of equity earnings of umealidated affiliates, net of tax, during the finibe months of 2014 compared to $1.5
million for the same period 2013.

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests for the first nine months of 2014 and 2@&8 $2.4 million and ($5.5) milliot
respectively.

Net income attributable to Greif, Inc.

Based on the factors noted above, net income watiéitle to Greif, Inc. was $77.5 million for thestimine months of 2014 compared to $110.5
million for the first nine months of 2013.

BALANCE SHEET CHANGES

Working capital changes

The $44.8 million increase in accounts receivabl$326.7 million as of July 31, 2014 from $481.9liom as of October 31, 2013 was
primarily due to timing of collections.

The $35.7 million increase in inventories to $41rhillion as of July 31, 2014 from $375.3 million asOctober 31, 2013 was primarily due
to purchases of certain materials in advance te salvantage of available discounts.

The $11.8 million increase in prepaid expensesadher current assets to $144.0 million as of July2914 from $132.2 million as of
October 31, 2013 was due primarily to the timingales of accounts receivable under the Nieuw Amiate Receivables Purchase
Agreement.

The $16.9 million increase in accounts payable4#8% million as of July 31, 2014 from $431.3 noiflias of October 31, 2013 was primarily
due to the timing of payments.

The $13.7 million increase in short-term borrowing$77.8 million as of July 31, 2014 from $64.1lion as of October 31, 2013 was
primarily due to higher working capital requiremeat various subsidiary operations.
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Other balance sheet changes

The $35.0 million decrease in goodwill to $968.%liom as of July 31, 2014 from $1,003.5 as of OetoB1, 2013 was primarily due to
goodwill allocated to the divestiture of an asgeug in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Servicegment, reclassification of goodwill
associated with businesses held for sale, foraigrency fluctuations and a reclassification of emoant improperly classified as goodwill it
prior period, offset by an acquisition in the Rigidiustrial Packaging & Services segment.

The $21.7 million increase in lortgfrm debt to $1,228.9 million as of July 31, 20dghf $1,207.2 million as of October 31, 2013 wadiakly
attributable to two acquisitions completed in thstfquarter of 2014.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity are operating célelvs and borrowings under our senior secureditfadility and the senior notes we have
issued and, to a lesser extent, proceeds frontade accounts receivable credit facility and prdsdieom the sale of our non-United States
accounts receivable. We use these sources to fumaarking capital needs, capital expenditureshahgidends, common stock repurchases
and acquisitions. We anticipate continuing to ftimeke items in a like manner. We currently expeat operating cash flows, borrowings
under our senior secured credit facility, procefedi our U.S. trade accounts receivable creditifg@nd proceeds from the sale of our non-
United States accounts receivable will be sufficterfund our anticipated working capital, cap@apenditures, debt repayment, potential
acquisitions of businesses and other liquidity sdedat least 12 months.

Capital Expenditures

During the first nine months of 2014, we invest®d.$ million in capital expenditures, which doe$ imelude our timberland purchases of
$55.7 million, compared with capital expenditur€$82.6 million, excluding timberland purchasess6f5 million, during the first nine
months of 2013.

We expect capital expenditures, excluding timbetlparchases and acquisitions, to be approximate®@ $nillion in 2014. The 2014 capital
expenditures will replace and improve existing pquént and fund new facilities.

Sale of Non-United States Accounts Receivable

Certain of our international subsidiaries have maténto discounted receivables purchase agreeraadtfactoring agreements (collectively,
the “RPASs") pursuant to which trade receivablesegated from certain countries other than the Unitdes and which meet certain
eligibility requirements are sold to certain intgtional banks or their affiliates.

Transactions under the RPAs are structured to gediar legal true sales, on a revolving basishefreceivables transferred from our various
subsidiaries to the respective banks or theiriaffis. The banks or their affiliates fund an inigiarchase price of a certain percentage of
eligible receivables based on a formula with theahpurchase price paid by the banks approxinga@id percent to 90 percent of eligible
receivables, and under our new RPA, the balanpei@hase price to the originating subsidiariesaisl from the proceeds of a related party
subordinated loan. The remaining deferred purchase and the repayment of the subordinated loarsettled upon collection of the
receivables. As of the balance sheet reportingsgdate remove from accounts receivable the amouptarfeeds received from the initial
purchase price since they meet the applicablerieritd Accounting Standards Codification (*“ASC”)@6Transfers and Servicing”, and
continue to recognize the deferred purchase pniceii other current assets. The receivables adeosoh non-recourse basis with the total
funds in the servicing collection accounts pledfgethe respective banks between the settlemens.dBite maximum amount of aggregate
receivables that may be financed under our vaiteds was $207.0 million as of July 31, 2014. Adulfy 31, 2014, total accounts receive
of $179.3 million were sold to and held by thirdtgdinancial institutions or their affiliates undéne various RPAs.

At the time the receivables are initially sold, thiference between the carrying amount and threviue of the assets sold are included as a
loss on sale and classified as “other expensdidrconsolidated statements of income. Expensesiatsibwith the various RPAs were
immaterial for the three months ended July 31, 28idifor the three months ended July 31, 2013. Esgmeassociated with the various RPAs
were $0.1 million for the nine months ended JulyZ114 and $0.2 million for the nine months endelst 31, 2013. Additionally, we perform
collections and administrative functions on theereables sold similar to the procedures we usedtecting all of our receivables. The
servicing liability for these receivables is notteréal to the consolidated financial statements.
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Refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial $tatets included in Item 1 of Part | of this Form QQer additional information regarding
these various RPAs.

Acquisitions, Divestitures and Other Significant Transactions

There were two acquisitions during the first ninentins of 2014 and one divestiture during the saem®g@. One acquisition was in the Rigid
Industrial Packaging & Services segment in Novenaper the other acquisition was in the Paper Pangagggment in November. The rigid
industrial packaging acquisition is expected to pment our existing product lines and provide gloapportunities and economies of sc
The paper packaging acquisition was made in pasbtain technologies, equipment, and customer. [[$te divestiture was of a nonstrategic
business in the Rigid Industrial Packaging & Sezsisegment and resulted in a loss on sale of $ilidmwhich includes the write-off of
allocated goodwill.

We completed no acquisitions and no material dittgss for the nine months ended July 31, 2013.

Refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial $tatets included in Item 1 of Part | of this Form QQer additional information regarding
these acquisitions.

Borrowing Arrangements
Credit Agreement

We and two of our international subsidiaries hagermior secured credit agreement (the “AmendediCAggeement”) with a syndicate of
financial institutions.

The Amended Credit Agreement provides us with &038illion revolving multicurrency credit facilitgnd a $200 million term loan, both
expiring in December 2017, with an option to ad8®&illion to the facilities with the agreementtbé lenders. The $200 million term loa
scheduled to amortize by the payment of principahe amount of $2.5 million each quarter-end lier first eight quarters, beginning January
2013, $5.0 million each quarter-end for the nexdle quarters and the remaining balance on theriyatlate. The revolving credit facility is
available to fund ongoing working capital and calpixpenditure needs, for general corporate pugpasd to finance acquisitions. Interest is
based on a Eurodollar rate or a base rate thasrpssodically plus an agreed upon margin amoAsiof July 31, 2014, a total of $233.8
million was outstanding and $732.8 million was &afale for borrowing under this facility, which haeen reduced by $15.9 million for
outstanding letters of credit as of July 31, 200ie weighted average interest rate under the Antb@dedit Agreement was 1.68% for the
nine months ended July 31, 2014.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains certain cawes which include financial covenants that regjuis to maintain a certain leverage
ratio and an interest coverage ratio. The leveratie generally requires that at the end of angaligjuarter we will not permit the ratio of

(a) our total consolidated indebtedness, to (b)comsolidated net income plus depreciation, degiedind amortization, interest expense
(including capitalized interest), income taxes, andus certain extraordinary gains and non-recgrgains (or plus certain extraordinary
losses and non-recurring losses) and plus or nterain other items for the preceding twelve moifthdjusted EBITDA”) to be greater than
4.00 to 1. The interest coverage ratio generaljyires that at the end of any fiscal quarter wé nat permit the ratio of (a) our consolidated
adjusted EBITDA for the preceding twelve month pdrio (b) our consolidated interest expense te@gtent paid or payable, to be less than
3.00 to 1 (the “Interest Coverage Ratio Covenarits)of July 31, 2014, we were in compliance witbgl covenants.

The terms of the Amended Credit Agreement limit ability to make “restricted payments,” which indudividends and purchases,
redemptions and acquisitions of our equity intexeEhe repayment of amounts borrowed under the AeeCredit Agreement are secures
a security interest in the personal property ofilGhec. and certain of our United States subsidigrincluding equipment and inventory and
certain intangible assets, as well as a pledgkeo€apital stock of substantially all of our Unitgthtes subsidiaries. The repayment of amc
borrowed under the Amended Credit Agreement is sdsoired, in part, by capital stock of the non-Qifhsidiaries that are parties to the
Amended Credit Agreement. However, in the everttwleareceive and maintain an investment gradegdtom either Moody’s Investors
Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor’s Corporation,may request the release of such collateral. Thenpay of outstanding principal under the
Amended Credit Agreement and accrued interestdinemeay be accelerated and become immediately dliparable upon our default in its
payment or other performance obligations or iteifaito comply with the financial and other covetsan the Amended Credit Agreement,
subject to applicable notice requirements and par@ds as provided in the Amended Credit Agreement
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Refer to Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial $tatets included in Item | of Part | of this Form QOfor additional disclosures regarding the
Amended Credit Agreement and 2010 Credit Agreement.

Senior Notes

We have issued $300.0 million of our 6.75% Seniote due February 1, 2017. Proceeds from the issuzrthese Senior Notes were
principally used to fund the purchase of our praslg outstanding senior subordinated notes anddaeral corporate purposes. These Senior
Notes are general unsecured obligations of Gaif, provide for ser-annual payments of interest at a fixed rate of%.,78nd do not requit
any principal payments prior to maturity on Febyuhr2017. These Senior Notes are not guaranteeypwf our subsidiaries and thereby
effectively subordinated to all of our subsidiariesisting and future indebtedness. The Indentumsyant to which these Senior Notes were
issued contains covenants, which, among other reatimit our ability to create liens on our asdetsecure debt and to enter into sale and
leaseback transactions. These covenants are stigeciumber of limitations and exceptions as @ehfin the Indenture. As of July 31, 2014,
we were in compliance with these covenants.

We have issued $250.0 million of our 7.75% Seniote due August 1, 2019. Proceeds from the issuzrtbese Senior Notes were
principally used for general corporate purposeduting the repayment of amounts outstanding underevolving multicurrency credit
facility, without any permanent reduction of theroitments. These Senior Notes are general unseobiiggtions of Greif, Inc., provide for
semi-annual payments of interest at a fixed rafé 85%, and do not require any principal paymerits po maturity on August 1, 2019.
These Senior Notes are not guaranteed by any cfulasidiaries and thereby are effectively subotdoh#o all of our subsidiaries’ existing
and future indebtedness. The Indenture pursuamhich these Senior Notes were issued contains emsnwhich, among other matters,
limit our ability to create liens on our assetsézure debt and to enter into sale and leasebatsatrtions. These covenants are subject to a
number of limitations and exceptions as set fantthe Indenture. As of July 31, 2014, we were impbance with these covenants.

Our Luxembourg subsidiary has issued €200.0 milibii.375% Senior Notes due July 15, 2021. TheséoBdlotes are fully and
unconditionally guaranteed on a senior basis byf@ne. A portion of the proceeds from the issuaind these Senior Notes was used to re
non-U.S. borrowings under the 2010 Credit Agreemeaithout any permanent reduction of the commitrag¢hereunder, with the remaining
proceeds available for general corporate purpaselsiding the financing of acquisitions. These $eMotes are general unsecured
obligations of the Luxembourg subsidiary and Greif. and provide for semi-annual payments of egéeat a fixed rate of 7.375%, and do
not require any principal payments prior to mayuoih July 15, 2021. These Senior Notes are notagiieed by any subsidiaries of the issuer
or Greif, Inc. and thereby are effectively suboad@d to all existing and future indebtedness ofthtesidiaries of the issuer and Greif, Inc.
Indenture pursuant to which these Senior Notes vgsted contains covenants, which, among otheensatimit our ability to create liens on
our assets to secure debt and to enter into sdleaseback transactions. These covenants arecstdp number of limitations and
exceptions as set forth in the Indenture. As of 3dl, 2014, we were in compliance with these comtna

Refer to Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial $tatets included in Item 1 of Part | of this Form Q@er additional disclosures regarding the
Senior Notes.

United States Trade Accounts Receivable Credit Facility

We and certain of our domestic subsidiaries ha®&78.0 million United States Accounts ReceivablediirFacility (the “Amended
Receivables Facility”) with a financial institutiomhe Amended Receivables Facility matures in Sepéz 2016. In addition, we can
terminate the Amended Receivables Facility at ang upon five days prior written notice. The Ameddeceivables Facility is secured by
certain of our United States trade accounts rebédgaand bears interest at a variable rate baséuedrondon InterBank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR") or an applicable base rate, plus a margina commercial paper rate plus a margin. Intésgsayable on a monthly basis and the
principal balance is payable upon termination ef Amended Receivables Facility. The Amended Reb&gaFacility also contains certain
covenants and events of default, including a reguént that we maintain a certain interest coveratje, which requires that at the end of .
fiscal quarter we will not permit the Interest Coage Ratio Covenant to be less than 3.00 to 1 guhia applicable trailing twelve-month
period. As of July 31, 2014, we were in compliand# this covenant. Proceeds of the Amended RebgigeFacility are available for
working capital and general corporate purposefAluly 31, 2014, $170.0 million was outstandinglenthe Amended Receivables Facility.
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Other

In addition to the amounts borrowed under the Aneein@redit Agreement and proceeds from the Senites\and the Receivables Facility,
as of July 31, 2014, we had outstanding other d&$108.0 million, comprised of $30.1 million inrg-term debt and $77.9 million in short-
term borrowings.

As of July 31, 2014, the current portion of ourdeterm debt was $17.5 million. Annual maturities;luding the current portion, of long-term
debt under our various financing arrangements 2re &illion in 2014, $50.0 million in 2015, $190ntllion in 2016, $321.4 million in 2017,
$171.3 million in 2018 and $511.4 million thereafte

As of July 31, 2014 and October 31, 2013, we hddrdsl financing fees and debt issuance costs bfiillion and $13.4 million,
respectively, which were included in other longrieassets.

Financial Instruments
I nterest Rate Derivatives

We have interest rate swap agreements with varatarities through December 2014. These interéstsi@ap agreements are used to
manage our fixed and floating rate debt mix, spedlify debt under the Amended Credit Agreement. asgumptions used in measuring fair
value of these interest rate derivatives are censitilevel 2 inputs, which were based on inteesstived monthly from the counterparties
based upon the LIBOR and interest paid based upl@signated fixed rate over the life of the swagaments. These derivative instruments
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedgesrélagly, the effective portion of the gain or lass these derivative instruments is repo
as a component of other comprehensive income atakgified into earnings in the same line item eisded with the forecasted transaction
and in the same period during which the hedgedé#etion affects earnings. The ineffective portibthe gain or loss on the derivative
instrument is recognized in earnings immediately.

We have two interest rate derivatives (floatindixed swap agreements designated as cash flow bpdggh a total notional amount of $150
million. Under these swap agreements, we receieeant based upon a variable interest rate froncdhaterparties (weighted average of
0.15% as of July 31, 2014 and 0.17% as of OctobeP@13) and pay interest based upon a fixed isteate (weighted average of 0.75% as
of July 31, 2014 and 0.75% as of October 31, 201@ses reclassified to earnings under these aistwaere $0.2 million and $0.2 million
for the three months ended July 31, 2014 and 2@Epectively; and were $0.7 million and $0.6 millior the nine months ended July 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively. These losses werededavithin the consolidated statements of incommgerest expense, net. The fair value
of these contracts was $0.2 million and $0.6 milliecorded in accumulated other comprehensive iecasrof July 31, 2014 and October 31,
2013, respectively.

Foreign Exchange Hedges

We conduct business in major international curemaind are subject to risks associated with chgrigheign exchange rates. Our objective
is to reduce volatility associated with foreign leange rate changes to allow management to focagiéstion on business operations.
Accordingly, we enter into various contracts thiadmge in value as foreign exchange rates chang®tect the value of certain existing
foreign currency assets and liabilities, commitmeartd anticipated foreign currency revenues andresgs.

As of July 31, 2014, we had outstanding foreigrmrecy forward contracts in the notional amount b5 7 million ($137.6 million as of
October 31, 2013). At July 31, 2014, these denreaitistruments were designated and qualified avéhile hedges. Adjustments to fair value
for fair value hedges are recognized in earninffsetting the impact of the hedged item. Adjustnsentfair value for fair value hedges are
recognized in earnings, offsetting the impact efledged item. The assumptions used in measuiingafae of foreign exchange hedges are
considered level 2 inputs, which were based onrghbée market pricing for similar instruments, mijpally foreign exchange futures
contracts. Losses recorded under fair value castimere $2.5 million and $1.2 million for the thne@nths ended July 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively; and were $2.6 million and $0.8 miilfor the nine months ended July 31, 2014 and 2@&kpectively.

Energy Hedges

We are exposed to changes in the price of certaimuodities. Our objective is to reduce volatilissaciated with forecasted purchases of
these commodities to allow management to focuatiesition on business operations. Accordingly, ves enter into derivative contracts to
manage the price risk associated with certain @dHorecasted purchases.
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From time to time, we have entered into certailhdbmsv hedges to mitigate our exposure to costtfilations in natural gas prices. Under ti
hedge agreements, we had agreed to purchase rgdsrat a fixed price. There were no energy hethgeect as of July 31, 2014 or
October 31, 2013.

Stock Repurchase Program and Other Share Acquisitits

Our Board of Directors has authorized the purcludigg to four million shares of Class A Common &toc Class B Common Stock or any
combination of the foregoing. During the nine manémded July 31, 2014 and 2013, we repurchasedaressof Class A or Class B Comn
Stock, respectively. As of July 31, 2014, we hagurchased 3,184,272 shares, including 1,425,4&2slof Class A Common Stock and
1,758,820 shares of Class B Common Stock, undeptbigram, all of which were repurchased in priearng. There were no shares
repurchased from November 1, 2012 through July2814.

VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

We evaluate whether an entity is a variable intezatty (“VIE"”) and determine if the primary bemgéry status is appropriate on a quarterly
basis. We consolidate VIE's for which we are thienary beneficiary. If we are not the primary benifty and an ownership interest is held,
the VIE is accounted for under the equity methodamfounting. When assessing the determinationegptimary beneficiary, we consider all
relevant facts and circumstances, including: thegydo direct the activities of the VIE that momgjraficantly impact the VIE's economic
performance and the obligation to absorb the ergdasses and/or the right to receive the expeetienins of the VIE.

Significant Nonstrategic Timberland Transactions

In March 2005, Soterra LLC (a wholly owned subsigliantered into two real estate purchase andagakements with Plum Creek
Timberlands, L.P. (“Plum Creek”) to sell approximigt56,000 acres of timberland and related aseetgdd primarily in Florida for an
aggregate sales price of approximately $90 millgurbject to closing adjustments. In connection withclosing of one of these agreements,
Soterra LLC sold approximately 35,000 acres of éndnd and associated assets in Florida, Georgi@kibama for $51.0 million. The
purchase price was paid in the form of cash ans0e9®million purchase note payable (the “PurchagteN by an indirect subsidiary of Plum
Creek (the “Buyer SPE"). Soterra LLC contributed BPurchase Note to STA Timber LLC (“STA Timber"heoof our indirect wholly owned
subsidiaries. The Purchase Note is secured by d BfeBuarantee issued by Bank of America, N.A.,damBranch, in an amount not to
exceed $52.3 million (the “Deed of Guarante@$,a guarantee of the due and punctual paymenminefgal and interest on the Purchase N

In May 2005, STA Timber issued in a private placahits 5.20% Senior Secured Notes due August 50 202 “Monetization Notes”) in the
principal amount of $43.3 million. In connectiontiwvthe sale of the Monetization Notes, STA Timheteeed into note purchase agreements
with the purchasers of the Monetization Notes {tete Purchase Agreements”) and related documemntaiihe Monetization Notes are
secured by a pledge of the Purchase Note and ted &feéGuarantee. The Monetization Notes may belaated in the event of a default in
payment or a breach of the other obligations st thherein or in the Note Purchase Agreementglated documents, subject in certain cases
to any applicable cure periods, or upon the ocogeef certain insolvency or bankruptcy relatedéseThe Monetization Notes are subject
to a mechanism that may cause them, subject taie@bnditions, to be extended to November 5, 202@. proceeds from the sale of the
Monetization Notes were primarily used for the ggpant of indebtedness. Greif, Inc. and its othdsgliaries have not extended any form of
guaranty of the principal or interest on the Moretion Notes. Accordingly, Greif, Inc. and its atlsebsidiaries will not become directly or
contingently liable for the payment of the Monetiaa Notes at any time. The Buyer SPE is a sepamadedistinct legal entity from us;
however the Buyer SPE has been consolidated intoprations.

The Buyer SPE is deemed to be a VIE since the BBP& is not able to satisfy its liabilities withdirtancing support from us. While Buyer
SPE is a separate and distinct legal entity fronwasare the primary beneficiary because we haythélpower to direct the activities of the
VIE that most significantly impact the VIE'economic performance, and (2) the obligatiorb&oeb losses of the VIE that could potentially
significant to the VIE or the right to receive bétsefrom the VIE that could potentially be sigmifint to the VIE. As a result, Buyer SPE has
been consolidated into our operations.

Flexible Packaging Joint Venture

In 2010, we formed a joint venture (referred todireias the “Flexible Packaging JV”) with Dabbaglo@r Holding Company Limited and its
subsidiary National Scientific Company Limited (“893. The Flexible Packaging JV owns the operationthe Flexible Products & Services
segment, with the exception of the North Americartiawall bag business. The Flexible Packaging 3¢ heen consolidated into our
operations as of its formation date of Septembe2@20.
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All entities contributed to the Flexible Packagiig were existing businesses acquired by us and ierganized under Greif Flexibles Asset
Holding B.V. and Greif Flexibles Trading Holding\B.(“Asset Co.” and “Trading Co."), respectivelyh& Flexible Packaging JV also
includes Global Textile Company LLC (“Global Texti), which owns and operates a fabric hub in thegidom of Saudi Arabia that
commenced operations in the fourth quarter of 284 have 51 percent ownership in Trading Co. anget8ent ownership in Asset Co. and
Global Textile. However, we and NSC have equal et interests in the Flexible Packaging JV, ndtatanding the actual ownership
interests in the various legal entities. All invasnts, loans and capital contributions are to laeeshequally by us and NSC and each partner
has committed to contribute capital of up to $150ion and obtain third party financing for up ta 30 million as required.

The Flexible Packaging JV is deemed to be a VIEesthe total equity investment at risk is not Kigfint to permit the legal entity to finance
its activities without additional subordinated fiveéal support from us. We are the primary benefficizecause we have (1) the power to direct
the activities of the VIE that most significantippact the VIE's economic performance, and (2) thiegation to absorb losses of the VIE that
could potentially be significant to the VIE or thight to receive benefits from the VIE that coulatgntially be significant to the VIE.

In April 2014, there was a conversion of the shierta loans payable and accrued interest to eqiitig. transaction was comprised of loans
payable to another Greif entity and those payabMSC. As of October 31, 2013, Asset Co. had ondiiey advances to NSC of $0.6 million
which were being used to fund certain costs inclimghe Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in respect of thieric hub. These advances were
recorded within the current portion related parntyes and advances receivable on our consolidataddgasheet. As of October 31, 2013,
Asset Co. and Trading Co. held short term loansbleyto NSC for $12.7 million recorded within shatm borrowings on our consolidated
balance sheet. These loans were interest bearthgyare used to fund certain operational requirement

Non-United States Accounts Receivable VIE

As further described in Note 3 to the Consoliddtatwncial Statements included in Item 1 of Parftthes Form 10-Q, Cooperage Receivables
Finance B.V. is a party to the Nieuw Amsterdam Rexddes Purchase Agreement (the “European RPA"ppeécage Receivables Finance
B.V. is deemed to be a VIE since this entity is alolie to satisfy its liabilities without the finaatsupport from us. While this entity is a
separate and distinct legal entity from us andwnoayship interest in Cooperage Receivables FinBr¢eis held by us, we are the primary
beneficiary because we have (1) the power to dilecactivities of the VIE that most significanitgpact the VIE's economic performance,
and (2) the obligation to absorb losses of the Wik could potentially be significant to the VIEs A result, Cooperage Receivables Finance
B.V. has been consolidated into our operations.

RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Newly Adopted Accounting Standards

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Stansl@alard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upd&&U”) 2011-11 “Balance
Sheet: Disclosures about Offsetting Assets andilitiab.” Subsequently, in January 2013, the FAS8&uied updated guidance in ASU 2013-
01 “Balance Sheet: Clarifying the Scope of Disctesuabout Offsetting Assets and Liabilities.” Ttadamce sheet offsetting disclosures were
limited in scope to derivatives, repurchase agreespand securities lending transactions to thergxhey are offset in the financial
statements or subject to an enforceable masténgettrangement or similar arrangement. We adoiftesiew guidance beginning on
November 1, 2013, and the adoption of the new guidalid not impact our financial position, resulit®perations, comprehensive income
cash flows, other than the related disclosures.

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02 “Cahpnsive Income: Reporting of Amounts Reclassi®ed of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income.” The objective of this updsate improve the reporting of reclassificationg of accumulated other comprehensive
income. The amendments in this update seek tadttat objective by requiring an entity to repd effect of significant reclassifications
of accumulated other comprehensive income on thgective line items in net income if the amounnhgeieclassified is required under
GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net ime For other amounts that are not required undexRsto be reclassified in their entirety to
net income in the same reporting period, an eigitgquired to cross-reference other disclosurggired under GAAP that provide additional
detail about those amounts. This would be the wdisn a portion of the amount reclassified out afuaculated other comprehensive income
is reclassified to a balance sheet account ingiditectly to income or expense in the same répgeriod. We adopted the new guidance
beginning on November 1, 2013, and the adoptich@hew guidance did not impact our financial positresults of operations,
comprehensive income or cash flows, other thamelated disclosures.
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In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08 “Presgion of Financial Statements (Topic 205) and Prtyp®lant, and Equipment (Topic
360): Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disales of Disposals of Components of an Entity.” dhgctive of this update is to prevent
disposals of small groups of assets that are riexcuim nature to qualify for discontinued operasgresentation under Subtopic 205-20. The
amendments in this update seek to attain this tiageby only allowing disposals representing atsfyec shift in operations to be presented as
discontinued operations. We adopted the new gu&haginning on May, 1 2014, after which, new disisf components are evaluated for
discontinued operations treatment using the newaguie . As a result of the adoption of this stashdamsinesses sold and classified as held
for sale during the three months ended July 3142i)d not qualify as discontinued operations urilemew standard.

Recently | ssued Accounting Standards

As of July 31, 2014, the FASB has issued ASU’sugiln201414. We have reviewed each recently issued ASU lamddoption of each AS
that is applicable to us is not expected to hanmterial impact on our financial position, reswfperations, comprehensive income or cash
flows, other than the related disclosures.

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-05 “Fore@imrency Matters: Parent's Accounting for the Clative Translation Adjustment
upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or GeapAssets within a Foreign Entity or an Investiriara Foreign Entity. The objective o
this update is to resolve the diversity in practibeut whether Accounting Standards Codificatioh§C”) 810-10 or ASC 830-30 applies to
the release of the cumulative translation adjustriréa net income when a parent either sells aqaall of its investment in a foreign entity
or no longer holds a controlling financial intergst subsidiary or group of assets that is a nafitactivity or a business (other than a sale of
in substance real estate or conveyance of oil asdights) within a foreign entity. We are expedteddopt the new guidance beginning
November 1, 2014, and the impact of the adoptiath@hew guidance will be evaluated when an adiprisor divestiture occurs with respe

to the our financial position, results of operatipoomprehensive income, cash flows and disclosures

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-11 “Inconaads: Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Bendfiéa Net Operating Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credir@forward Exists.” The objective of this updatdad eliminate the diversity in practice in
the presentation of unrecognized tax benefits weheat operating loss carryforward, a similar tesslor a tax credit carryforward exists. The
amendments in this update seek to attain that tigeloy requiring an entity to present an unrecogditax benefit in the financial statements
as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for thagarines described above, except in certain singatiscussed in the update. We are expected
to adopt the new guidance beginning on Novemb26014 and the adoption of the new guidance is np¢ebed to impact the Company'’s
financial position, results of operations, compradiee income or cash flows, other than the reldisedosures.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Rexecinom Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), wtiapersedes the revenue
recognition requirements in ASC 605, Revenue Reitiogn This ASU is based on the principle that mrave is recognized to depict the
transfer of goods or services to customers in apuatrthat reflects the consideration to which thiitg expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. The ASU also requiregiaddi disclosure about the nature, amount, tinsind uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows arising from customer contracts, includingrsficant judgments and changes in judgments asetsisecognized from costs incurred to
obtain or fulfill a contract. The effective datelitie the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 usinge®f two retrospective application

methods. The Company has not yet determined thenfiak impact on the Company’s financial positicesults of operations, comprehensive
income, cash flow and disclosures.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKE T RISK

There has not been a significant change in thettjatiwe and qualitative disclosures about our reairisk from the disclosures contained in
the 2013 Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Changesin Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As previously disclosed in Item 9A of the Form 1@ the fiscal year ended October 31, 2012, mamage had then concluded that there
was a material weakness in internal controls owvemicial reporting related to accounting for nonotioe or complex transactions. Remedial
actions have been and are being implemented t@ssitiiese controls, including improving processéscammunications around noowtine

or complex transactions, supplementing the techomapetence of our accounting staff with
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additional internal and, as needed, contract regsuand improving, from a holistic standpoint, deeumentation of the review of the
accounting, presentation and disclosure of suetsé@ions. Once all remedial actions have beereimghted and in operation for a sufficient
period of time, these actions will be fully testeddetermine whether they are operating effectiveherefore, management concluded that, as
of July 31, 2014, there was a material weakneg#@nnal controls over financial reporting relatedaccounting for non-routine or complex
transactions.

As previously disclosed in our Quarterly Reportrammm 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31,30hanagement had then concluded
there was a material weakness in internal contreés financial reporting related to accountingvigthholding taxes on subsidiary financing
transactions. In response, actions were implementezsimediate the above identified material weagniesluding the improvement of the
technical competency of the staff through contigugducation and revised accounting policies, imgnoent of the processes for accruing
withholding tax expense, alignment of withholdiag iccrual with the related interest income ac¢uiaiplification of the Company’s
subsidiary loan portfolio through enhanced desigh maintenance, enhancements to the periodic fextieg packages, and strengthening of
the underlying process and analysis (Treasury, Aatiog and Tax) that supports subsidiary finandegisions and procedures. These acl
are in the process of being tested; however aslpf3l, 2014, the controls and processes documemeédmplemented have not been in pl
long enough to provide sufficient assurances t@atighe conclusion that the above identified mateveakness has been fully remediated.
Once in operation for a sufficient period of tinfegse actions will be fully tested to determine thiethey are operating effectively.
Therefore, management concluded that as of Jul2@14, there was a material weakness in internattals over financial reporting relatec
accounting for withholding taxes on subsidiary fioiag transactions.

As previously disclosed in our Quarterly Reportramim 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 30120management had then concluded
there was a material weakness in internal contreds financial reporting related to the preparatma review of the quarterly reporting
information package in our Latin America stratelgisiness unit. The error was primarily caused fajlare in the control requiring the local
business unit to prepare and review an internaitgra reporting information package, along witle flailure of the business unit to obtain
appropriate approvals for the transaction. The Gomgpletermined that its other controls were noigiies! to operate with sufficient precis
to have prevented or detected the error. Becaudeaohagnitude of potential error that could besealby a failure of this control,
management has concluded there was a material eeskminternal control over financial reportintated to the preparation and review of
the quarterly reporting information package in batin America strategic business unit. The Comparngking actions to remediate the
material weakness, including strengthening existiragesses and approval policies covering chamglegal entity structure and additional
training and communication about the review ofdhbarterly reporting information package. Once iemaion for a sufficient period of time,
these actions will be fully tested to determine thire they are operating effectively. Therefore, aggment concluded that as of July 31,
2014, there was a material weakness in interndtalsrover financial reporting related to the pnggi@n and review of the quarterly reporti
information package in our Latin America strategirsiness unit.

Notwithstanding the identified material weaknessesnagement believes the consolidated financitdrstants included in this Quarte
Report on Form 10-Q fairly represent in all matiergspects our financial condition, results of @iems and cash flows at and for the periods
presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

As part of the process of remediating our matevigdknesses disclosed above, management continaealt@mte resources, change and
expand roles and responsibilities of key persoandimake changes to certain processes relateuatucfal close, systems and financial
reporting. During the three months ended July ®142management initiated a change in the reporétagionships of our business financial
controllers. The reporting structure is now aligsedhat our business financial controllers had@ect reporting relationship to our chief
financial officer. We also continue to consolidatene of our transaction processing and generabatiog activities onto a common,
company-wide management information and accoursyistem and have also begun implementation of aaglatrount reconciliation and
monitoring tool. These changes are intended tthéurénhance our internal control over financiabrépg and our operating efficiencies. No
other changes occurred in our internal control divemncial reporting during our most recent fisgahrter that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interantrol over financial reporting.

Except as noted in the preceding paragraphs, tierdeen no change in our internal control oveional reporting that occurred during the
most recent quarter that has materially affecteds ceasonably likely to materially affect, outémal control over financial reporting.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures

With the participation of our principal executivEicer and principal financial officer, our managem has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as definediie B3a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange AtB8#, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”)), as of the end of the period covered by tleigort. Based upon that evaluation, our principalcutive officer and principal financial
officer have concluded that, as of the end of #éool covered by this report:

» Information required to be disclosed by ushia teports that we file or submit under the Excleafgt is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periodsi§pé in the rules and forms of the Securities &xd¢hange Commissio

» Information required to be disclosed by ushia teports that we file or submit under the Excleafgt is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our praiexecutive officer and principal financial affr, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure;

* Management has concluded that, because oferiadatreakness in our internal controls over finaheeporting related to
accounting for non-routine or complex transacti@s)aterial weakness in our internal controls divemcial reporting related to
accounting for withholding taxes on subsidiary finig transactions, and a material weakness inntemmal controls over
financial reporting related to the preparation emdew of the quarterly reporting information pagkan our Latin America
strategic business unit, our disclosure controtb@ocedures were not effectiy

PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1A . RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes in our rigkfafrom those disclosed in the 2013 Form 10-Keurifrt |, Item 1A — Risk Factors.

ITEM 2 . UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Issuer Purchases of Class A Common Stock

Maximum Number (or

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
Shares Purchased ¢ Value) of Shares that
Total Number Part of Publicly May Yet Be

of Shares Average Price Announced Plans o Purchased under the

Period Purchased Paid Per Share Programs (1) Plans or Programs (1’
November 201. — — 815,72¢
December 201 — — 815,72¢
January 201. — — 815,72¢
February 201: — — 815,72¢
March 2014 — — 815,72¢
April 2014 — — 815,72t
May 2014 — — 815,72¢
June 201« — — 815,72¢
July 2014 — — 815,72¢

Issuer Purchases of Class B Common Stock

Maximum Number (or

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
Shares Purchased ¢ Value) of Shares that
Total Number Part of Publicly May Yet Be

of Shares Average Price Announced Plans o Purchased under the

Period Purchased Paid Per Share Programs (1) Plans or Programs (1’
November 201: — — 815,72¢
December 201 — — 815,72¢
January 201. — — 815,72¢
February 201: — — 815,72¢
March 2014 — — 815,72¢
April 2014 — — 815,72¢
May 2014 — — 815,72¢
June 201 — — 815,72¢
July 2014 — — 815,72¢

(1) Our Board of Directors has authorized a st@gurchase program which permits us to purchase d4@tmillion shares of our Class A
Common Stock or Class B Common Stock, or any coatinin thereof. As of July 31, 2014, the maximum bemof shares that may
be purchased was 815,728 shares, which may beocanlyication of Class A Common Stock or Class B Com&tock.
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ITEM 5. OTHER MATERIALLY IMPORTANT EVENTS

The Company is changing the previously scheduléel fda the Company’s 2015 annual meeting of theldtolders from February 23, 2015
(as reported in the Company’s Proxy Statement diadary 9, 2014) to March 2, 2015.

ITEM 6 . EXHIBITS

(a.) Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

10.1 Restricted Share Award Agreement under the 200lalgement Equity Incentive and Compensation Plarddatee 10,
2011, with Lawrence A. Hilsheime

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer PursuantRule 13— 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1¢

31.2 Certification of Vice President and Chief Finand@dficer Pursuant to Rule 13a 44(a) of the Securities Exchange Ac
1934,

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer requireg¢t Rule 13a — 14(b) of the Securities Exchangeoid934 and Section
1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United Sta@esle.

32.2 Certification of Vice President and Chief Financdficer required by Rule 13a -34(b) of the Securities Exchange Ac
1934 and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 1&hefUnited States Cod

101 The following financial statements from the ComparQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quartetezhJuly 31,

2014, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reipgrt.anguage): (i) Consolidated Statements of Ineamd
Comprehensive Income, (ii) Consolidated Balancee&h¢iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow @ndNotes to
Consolidated Financial Statemer
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the Company has duly causeddbisrt to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereto duly authorized.

Greif, Inc.
(Registrant’

Date: August 29, 2014 /sl Lawrence A. Hilsheimer
Lawrence A. Hilsheimel
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
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Exhibit 10.1
GREIF, INC.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD AGREEMENT
UNDER THE
2001 MANAGEMENT EQUITY INCENTIVE
AND COMPENSATION PLAN

Greif, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Companyias awarded to Lawrence A. Hilsheimer (the “Riecity), as of May 12, 2014 (the
“Award Date”), fifteen thousand (15,000) share® (tRestricted Shares”) of Class A Common Stockheut par value, of the Company (the
“Shares”). The Restricted Shares have been awgnadsdiant to the Company’s 2001 Management Equagritive and Compensation Plan,
as amended (the “Plan”), and shall be subject tof ahe provisions of the Plan, which are heratgorporated herein by reference, and shall
be subject to the following provisions of this agrent. Capitalized terms used in this agreementtieanot otherwise defined herein shall
have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Pla

1. Restrictions on TransfeDuring the period commencing on the Award Datg @ontinuing until May 12, 2019 (the “Restriction
Period”), the Recipient shall not sell, pledge,enber, assign, or otherwise transfer the Restriteates. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
upon the Recipient’s death or disability (as defibelow), the foregoing restriction on transferlsteaminate and the legal representative of
the Recipient or the designated beneficiary ofRkestricted Shares may transfer such RestricteceSHerfore the end of the Restriction
Period. For purposes of this agreement, the teisalility” shall have the meaning ascribed to stezrin in the long term disability plan
maintained by the Company at the time a deterngnaif disability is made under such disability plan

2. Purchase PriceThe purchase price for the Restricted Share$ lsb&0.

3. Risk of Forfeiture; Vesting Schedul&#he Restricted Shares shall vest in accordantdetie following schedule:

# of Restricted Share Vesting Date
5,000 May 12, 201¢
5,000 May 12, 201¢
5,000 May 12, 2017

Upon each Vesting Date, the number of Restricteaté&&hthat become fully vested shall not be sulijeahy risk of forfeiture.

In the event that the Recipient’'s employment whith Company terminates before a Vesting Date, theRestricted Shares that have
not vested before the date of termination shafbbfeited. Notwithstanding the foregoing or the yigions of the Plan to the contrary, if the
Recipient’'s employment with the Company terminatias to death, disability or involuntary terminatwithout cause prior to the end of the
Restriction Period, then all of the Restricted 8kahall become fully vested.

4. Stock IssuancedJpon execution and delivery of this agreementhi@yRecipient and receipt of payment of the fulighase price for
the Restricted Shares subject to this agreemeamyifthe Company shall issue the Restricted Sharb®e Recipient. The Company may is
the Restricted Shares in the form of a stock ¢eatié or by book entry, in the Company’s sole difon. Any stock certificates issued with
respect to the Restricted Shares shall bear apptepegends with respect to the transfer restristiset forth in this agreement and shall be
held by the Company until the expiration of the tReion Period. Any Restricted Shares issued iokbentry form shall contain appropriate
notations with respect to the transfer restrictiseisforth in this agreement.

Upon the expiration of all transfer restrictiongbBgable to the Restricted Shares, any restrictgends or notations shall be removed
from stock certificates or book entries evidendimg Restricted Shares. If requested by the Redimestock certificate for unrestricted She
shall be issued and delivered to the Recip



5. Rights As StockholderOn and after the issuance of the Restricted Sharthe Recipient, the Recipient shall have athefrights of
a stockholder of the Company with respect to thstfteed Shares so issued, including the rightote the issued Restricted Shares and the
right to receive any dividends or other distribausavith respect to the issued Restricted Sharesutnject, however, to the restrictions on
transfer set forth in this agreement). The Recipimderstands and acknowledges that dividendsstrlwitions, if any, paid on any of the
Restricted Shares prior to their vesting shallrbated, to the extent required by applicable langdditional compensation to the Recipient
tax purposes.

6. Acceptance of AwardThe award of the Restricted Shares must be aadéptthe Recipient within 30 days after the Awate by
executing this agreement and paying the purchase, fifrany, required under 82 of this agreemeht Recipient shall not have any rights
with respect to the Restricted Shares awarded uhdeagreement unless and until the Recipieneasuted this agreement, delivered a 1
executed copy thereof to the Secretary of the Compand otherwise complied with the applicable ®and conditions of the award of the
Restricted Shares.

7. Tax Consequenced he Recipient understands and acknowledgestibaRecipient (and not the Company) shall be resplentor
the federal, state, local or foreign tax liabiltygd any other tax consequences that may ariseessilhof the award of the Restricted Shares,
including without limitation filing an election ued Section 83(b) (the “83(b) Election”) of the Intal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if
the Recipient deems it to be appropriate. The Reuighall rely solely on the determinations of Recipient’s tax advisors or the Recipient’s
own determinations, and not on any statementspoesentations by the Company or any of its agevits,regard to all such tax matters. The
Recipient shall notify the Company in writing ifetfRecipient files the 83(b) Election with the Im&rRevenue Service within 30 days from
the date of the execution of this Agreement. Thenfany intends, in the event it does not receivmftioe Recipient evidence of the 83(b)
Election filing by the Recipient, to claim a taxddetion for any amount which would be taxable ® Recipient in the absence of such an
election.

Except as provided in the next sentence, the Coynglaall withhold and/or reacquire a number of Re&td Shares having a Fair
Market Value equal to the taxes that the Compangrdenes it is required to withhold under applieatax laws with respect to the Restricted
Shares (with such withholding obligation determitaded on any applicable minimum statutory withimgdates), in connection with the
vesting of the Restricted Shares. In the evenCthrapany cannot (under applicable legal, regulati@ting or other requirements) satisfy s
tax withholding obligation in such method, the Réant makes a Section 83(b) election pursuant tti&e2(i) below, or the parties otherw
agree in writing, then the Company may satisfy suithholding by any one or combination of the feliag methods: (i) by requiring the
Recipient to pay such amount in cash or checkbyiifieducting such amount out of any other comp@rsatherwise payable to the
Recipient; and/or (iii) by allowing the Recipientdurrender Shares which (a) in the case of Sliwitedly acquired from the Company (upon
exercise of a stock option or otherwise), have lowemed by the Recipient for such period (if any)jrasy be required to avoid a charge to the
Company'’s earnings, and (b) have a Fair Market &alu the date of surrender equal to the amountireetjto be withheld. For these
purposes, the Fair Market Value of the Shares twitiheld or repurchased, as applicable, shalldierchined on the date that the amount of
tax to be withheld is to be determined.

8. Compliance with Securities Law#lo Restricted Shares shall be deliverable uridsraigreement or the Plan except in compliance
with all applicable federal and state securitiegsland regulations. The Company may require thépidet (a) to represent and warrant to
agree with the Company in writing that the Recipisracquiring the Restricted Shares without a viewistribution thereof, and (b) to make
such additional representations, warranties anelesgents with respect to the investment intent@Rhcipient as the Company may
reasonably request.

All certificates for the Restricted Shares shalkhbbject to such stop-transfer orders and othéricésns as the Company may deem
advisable under the rules, regulations, and o#tguirements of the Securities and Exchange Comonisany stock exchange upon which the
Shares are then listed, and any applicable fedesthte securities laws, and the Company may calegend or legends to be put on any
certificates to make appropriate reference to sastictions.



9. Section 16 CompliancdJnless the Recipient could otherwise disposé@Restricted Shares without incurring liabilityden
Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, none of the ietl Shares may be disposed of until at leastngirths have elapsed from the Award
Date.

GREIF, INC.

By: /s/ David B. Fische

David B. Fische
President and Chief Executive Offic

Acceptance of Agreement

The Recipient hereby: (a) acknowledges receivingpy of the Plan and represents that the Recigdamiliar with all provisions of
the Plan; and (b) accepts this agreement and thedani the Restricted Shares under this agreenubigct to all terms, provisions, and
restrictions of both the Plan and this agreement.

/s/ Lawrence A. Hilsheime

Lawrence A. Hilsheime

Dated as of




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, David B. Fisher, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on FormaQof Greif, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg period in which this report is being prepal

b) Designed such internal control over financigloting, or caused such internal control over fahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes]j as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, tlegistrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; anc
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiiernal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent

functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corvel financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invadwaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: August 29, 2014 /s/ David B. Fischer
David B. Fischer, Preside
and Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Lawrence A. Hilsheimer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on FormaQof Greif, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg period in which this report is being prepal

b) Designed such internal control over financigloting, or caused such internal control over fahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes]j as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, tlegistrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; anc
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiiernal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent

functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corvel financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invadwaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: August 29, 2014 /sl Lawrence A. Hilsheimer
Lawrence A. Hilsheimel
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




Exhibit 32.1

Certification Required by Rule 13a — 14(b) of the 8curities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350
of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Greif¢cl (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quartgrériod ended July 31, 2014, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report”), |, David B. Fischthe President and Chief Executive

Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 L SSection 1350, as adopted pursuant to Secti6roBthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseéttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@abition and results of operations of
the Company

Date: August 29, 2014 /s/ David B. Fischer

David B. Fischer, Preside
and Chief Executive Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to Greif, Ind.\ill be retained by Greif, Inc. ai
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidts staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Required by Rule 13a — 14(b) of the 8curities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350 ©hapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Greif¢cl (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quartgrgriod ended July 31, 2014, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Lawrence AlsHeimer, Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti®®0, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseéttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc
(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@abition and results of operations of
the Company

Date: August 29, 2014 /sl Lawrence A. Hilsheimer
Lawrence A. Hilsheimel
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to Greif, Ind.\aill be retained by Greif, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidts staff upon reques



